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Thursday, October 14, 2010


--- On commencing at 10:09 a.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

The Board has a few preliminary matters we will go through first.  First of all, for today, we will sit until about noon and we will take the lunch break then, and we will take a break in the afternoon, and our intention is to try and sit -- well, not to sit anything past 5 o'clock.

Secondly, I know Ms. Binette has been working with OPG and the other parties to try and organize the schedule for the balance of the hearing, and I know there are some fairly significant challenges we are all facing in terms of availability and timing.  So I would just encourage everyone, again, to make your very best efforts to work with Ms. Binette so that we can accomplish the hearing without going too far into November.

Finally, an issue was raised yesterday about the cross-examination of PWU, and the Panel has considered that issue and reviewed the transcript, and our conclusion is that, in this application, PWU and the Society represent the interests of employees of the applicant.  While these interests do not always coincide with the interests of the applicant, they are fundamentally different in nature from the interests of other intervenors, which represent consumer and other public interests.

This application is about payments to OPG, so it is inevitable that many of the issues involve the extent to which OPG can justify its costs, a significant component of which is labour.

So at least to that extent, PWU and the Society's interest is to support the application or, indeed, to suggest increases in some areas, perhaps.  The consumer advocates of course will want to demonstrate that costs continue to be higher than necessary in some areas.

While PWU and the Society are entitled to cross-examine witness panels, for the sake of fairness the other intervenors, or at least some of them, should have the opportunity to cross-examine after PWU and the Society have done so.

We will leave it up to the parties to work out an order for each panel, but neither the PWU nor the Society will be permitted to go last.

Subject to any other preliminary matters, I believe we are ready for the next panel, panel 3.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Yes, we have no preliminary matters from OPG's perspective, so we can proceed with the next panel, if I may.

If I could introduce the panellists, and then ask them to go forward to be sworn, beginning first with the panellist that is closest to me, Mr. John Mauti.  Next to him is Mr. Paul Pasquet, and then next to Mr. Pasquet is Mr. Mark Elliott.

If I could ask them to be sworn at this time?
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 3

Mark Elliott, Sworn


John Mauti, Sworn


Paul Pasquet, Sworn

Examination by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  I have just a very brief direct with respect to the panel before making them available for cross-examination.  If I could, I would proceed with that now.

Beginning first with you, Mr. Mauti, just to review your qualifications and relationship to OPG, I understand that you are the director nuclear reporting; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I am.

MR. KEIZER:  And is your microphone on?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, it is.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay, thank you.  I also understand that your responsibilities include such aspects as maintaining all financial reporting for OPG's nuclear business and management of costing systems that generate the costs reporting across the business.  You also deal with managing nuclear accounting and reporting staff, and that you are also involved with managing and providing oversight to all nuclear liability calculations and financial impacts; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, it is.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have an honours bachelor of business administration from Wilfrid Laurier University?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been with Ontario Power Generation since approximately -- since 1991; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to the prefiled evidence that's been filed in this proceeding relating to base OM&A and nuclear fuels, was that prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, it was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. MAUTI:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And in respect of any of the IRs -- or interrogatories, rather, that were prepared, were you responsible or involved in the preparation of the responses to interrogatories that were provided in respect of the prefiled evidence?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. MAUTI:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Mauti.

Next, turning to you, Mr. Pasquet, I understand that you are the senior vice president, Pickering B?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And in that role, you are responsible for management dealing with operations, maintenance surveillance, for the CANDU nuclear units at Pickering B?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  You are also involved with the management of the station finance and the strategic planning functions; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have a bachelor of applied science relating to physics from Trent University?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been involved with and employed at Ontario Power Generation or its successor, Ontario Hydro, since 1979?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And then with respect to the prefiled evidence that is filed in this proceeding relating to base OM&A and nuclear fuels, was that prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. PASQUET:  It was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to the interrogatories that have been filed relating to that prefiled evidence, were you responsible or involved in the preparation of the responses to the interrogatories in respect of the prefiled evidence?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, I was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Pasquet.

Turning to you, Mr. Elliott, you are the senior vice president of inspection and maintenance services; is that correct?

MR. ELLIOTT:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And I also understand that, in that role, you deal with supporting the nuclear organization with integrated specialized inspection and maintenance services?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  As well as transitioning, inspection and maintenance services from the stand-alone profit centre to one where you are focussed on OPG nuclear fleet; is that correct?

MR. ELLIOTT:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you are also responsible for some elements of strategic planning, management, operations in all aspects of inspection and maintenance business; is that correct?

MR. ELLIOTT:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have a bachelor of engineering, engineering physics, from McMaster University; is that correct?

MR. ELLIOTT:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been employed with Ontario Power Generation or its predecessor since 1983?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Since 1978.

MR. KEIZER:  Since 1978?  Well, there you go.

With respect to the prefiled evidence filed in this proceeding relating to OM&A and nuclear fuels, was that prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. ELLIOTT:  It was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to the various IRs that have been filed in this proceeding relating to the prefiled evidence, were you responsible or involved in the preparation of the responses to the interrogatories in respect of the prefiled evidence?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, that ends my direct examination of the panel.  They are now available for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Crocker, I believe AMPCO is first up.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That's correct in terms of Ms. Binette's scheduling.  However, I am aware of the conversation that took place at the end of the day yesterday and am involved in, and have been involved in, a number of other matters before lots of other tribunals, and it is the practice, generally speaking, that "friendly cross" - I use those terms in quotation marks - should precede all other cross.

And I would prefer to have the Power Workers' Union proceed.  I don't think it is particularly significant with respect to this panel, exclusively, but I think it is a practice that should begin and should be followed as widely as can be the case.

So I would prefer to defer to the Power Workers' Union and be happy to go second.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, if Mr. Stephenson wishes to go first, he may.  However, we have a cross-examination order, and, as I said first thing this morning, we are going to leave it up to the parties.  We are not going to require the Power Workers to go first, unless everybody -- so if Mr. Stephenson wants to go first, he may, but otherwise I will expect you to go first.

Mr. Stephenson is next up in the order, so that is fully in keeping with what we have said this morning.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.  And I would be interested in finding out whether anybody does --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I am not really interested in a lot of discussion on this issue.

MR. CROCKER:  ALL right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  If Mr. Stephenson would like to go first, that is quite acceptable to us.  However, he is second in the order and if that is what he would like to retain, that is also satisfactory with us.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am perfectly content with the schedule as it is.  If it makes my friend, Mr. Crocker, more comfortable, I will leave the room and not listen to his cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Stephenson, let's try to work cooperatively here.

Mr. Crocker, why don't you proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, we prepared a compendium of the materials that -- to which we are going to make reference, and Ms. -- I said Benet, but it is Binette, I am sure, has them.  I don't know whether they have been distributed or not, but...

MR. MILLAR:  It is Exhibit K4.1, and that is the AMPCO compendium of documents.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Gentlemen, my name is David Crocker.  I represent AMPCO and will be cross-examining on their behalf.

I will leave it up to you to decide who of you is the most appropriate to answer the questions that I pose.

I wonder whether you could turn up page 1 of the material that we have provided.  This is an excerpt from the decision in EB-2007-0905.

And the chart that is displayed in the middle of that page, as I understand it, sets out the forecast operating costs for Pickering A for 2008 and 2009, among other years.

Do you agree with that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, it does.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And those costs for 2008 are $76 per megawatt-hour, and in 2009 $77 per megawatt-hour.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. MAUTI:  Those are the costs on our production unit energy cost basis that this chart was prepared on, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you go to AMPCO Interrogatory 22, which begins at page 4 in all of this, we can look at the actual costs.

And if you could turn over the page to page 6 of the material, the actual costs for 2008 and 2009 are set out, and the actual costs for 2008 are -- are $73.90 per megawatt hour, and 2009 $84.20 per megawatt-hour.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we go back to the numbers that were depicted, or that were -- I guess depicted on page 1, that is in the decision in 2007-0905, I suggest to you that the Board was concerned with those numbers, and that concern is expressed in their decision at page 31, which is at page 2 of the compendium.

I would just like to read the parts of the decision of the Board, starting with the second paragraph.  The Board says:

"The production costs of the Pickering A station are a particular concern.  In the past, a major reason for the high PUEC for ..."

And is production unit energy cost, PUEC, is that the short?

MR. MAUTI:  That is the acronym for it, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I won't go into other ways of describing it.
"...for Pickering A has been the extent of unplanned outages and the resulting low capital utilization.  OPG has forecast significantly higher capacity factors for Pickering A in 2008 and 2009, but as Chart 2-1 illustrates, even at those higher production levels, the PUEC for Pickering will still remain well above the PUEC for Pickering B, will be significantly higher than the PUEC for...Darlington... and will stay well above the PUEC achieved by the Bruce station over the period 2005 to 2007.  Thus, poor capacity factors are not the whole reason for a high PUEC at Pickering A.

"The Board estimates the PUEC for Pickering A assuming it were able to reach the forecast capacity factors..."

I will slow down.  The reporter should have a copy of this in front of her.  I'm sorry that you don't.  I will slow down.
"...in Pickering B station in 2008 and 2009.  Even if Pickering A were able to increase its planned capacity factors by that much (from 79% in 2008 and 81% in 2009 to 86% in both years), the Board estimates that the PUEC for Pickering A would only fall to around $70 per MWh, a level that is much higher than the next highest cost station in Chart 2.1.  In the Board's view, this indicates an issue with the overall level of production costs in Pickering A.

"Under these circumstances, the Board believes that a reasonable action is to disallow 10% of the Base OM&A costs for Pickering A."

And then the Board goes on.

I will read one more sentence:

"This represents a test period disallowance of $14.9 million in 2008 and 20.9 million (sic) in 2009."

Can we, then, go back to the numbers that you provided in response to the interrogatory?  So we are going back to page 6, then, the chart on page 6.

Could you explain to me the increase in 2009 over 2008?  That is, 84.2 over 73.9?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ELLIOTT:  There is a number of reasons, but decreasing capacity factor was one of them.  You are speaking about 2009?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. ELLIOTT:  In 2009, there were a number of issues that affected the capacity factor, and that's the primary reason for the increase.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Okay.  Could I ask you to turn to page 3 of the material?

I would like to -- I just wanted to make sure this wasn't confidential.  It just occurred to me, because of the numbers go out a fair ways, that it might be, but I am sure that it isn't.  So let me ask the question.

Line 2 shows the base O&M costs for Pickering A.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. MAUTI:  Are you on the Exhibit F2-1-1?  Or F2-2-1, table 1?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  I am looking at line 2.

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  It does reflect base OM&A, total base OM&A for Pickering A, line 2.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And it is 162.5 million for 2007, 187.6 for 2008, and 187.3 for 2009; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Once again, this shows a significant increase for 2008 over 2007 for, I assume, the same reason, capacity?

MR. ELLIOTT:  No.  In this case, this is the base OM&A cost.  So this is just the cost that we incurred in generating.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  A significant increase, though, you would agree?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Agreed.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Are the disallowed costs factored into these numbers; that is, the costs which were disallowed in the previous decision in 2007?  Are they factored in here?

MR. PASQUET:  I will comment.

So in November 2008, we received the OEB decision.  So, essentially, the effect of the Board's ruling could not be rolled into the 2008's costs.  And, in fact, business planning was well under way for 2009.

And so what the decision was was to look at the
cost -- the rate order, in general.  In fact, the rate order looked at the entire nuclear OM&A business.  And so what we then did, we then looked to 2009 to execute a more aggressive business planning cost reduction process.

And, in fact, if you actually look at the numbers in 2009 and you compare what the original ask for base OM&A, less the OEB denial, in fact our actuals came in under what the recommended amount from the OEB was.

And so in regard to that, the cost was not absorbed by Pickering A, but it was absorbed through the entire nuclear organization as a whole.

MR. CROCKER:  Where would I see that reflected in the prefiled material, or anywhere for that matter?

MR. PASQUET:  So if we look at the actuals, the budgeted for OM&A, and if we just compare against the -- what was the rate order from the OEB, you can basically do the math and get the result.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But can you give me the figures so that I can -- show me the figures that I can use to do the math.

MR. MAUTI:  One area I might point you to is F2-2-2, page 4 of 10.  This is a section that deals with variances of actual costs compared to budget, and, starting on line 12, looks at the 2009 actual versus budget.  And as is indicated there, the actual basis under budget, in total by $57 million.


MR. CROCKER:  And the reference again, Mr. Mauti, was?

MR. MAUTI:  F2-2-2, page 4 of 10.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, thank you.  Can you tell me, please, how the disallowance impacted OPG?  For instance, I assume it didn't prevent the provision of any essential service.  I assume that it didn't create any concerns for safety, anything like that.

MR. PASQUET:  We will operate these facilities in a safe, reliable manner, and so, you know, with the impact of the rate order, we are not going to operate these facilities in an unsafe manner.

MR. CROCKER:  So the answer to the question is it didn't affect?

MR. PASQUET:  It did not, that is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And, once again, your answer is, no, it didn't affect any essential service?

MR. PASQUET:  Within -- taking the rate order into account, there had to be some reprioritization, because clearly there were funds that had been suggested that were not going to be allowed.  So, consequently, we had to do some reprioritization of work.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I ask the question again.  Did it affect any essential service?

MR. PASQUET:  I guess I -- not to be difficult, but what would you define as "essential service"?

MR. CROCKER:  I am asking you whether it affected -- tell me how it affected you operationally, then.


MR. PASQUET:  So did it specifically impact safety of plant?  I have answered the question.  No, it did not.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. PASQUET:  If it impacted the reliability of the plant, no, it did not.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. PASQUET:  But clearly there was some work that didn't get executed.

MR. CROCKER:  What work was that?

MR. PASQUET:  I think if you look at the -- I mean, I don't have that detail in front of me, but, you know, clearly with less amount of money, you do less work.

MR. MAUTI:  I can speak a bit to our business processes as a result of the last rate order.  We actually undertook more extensive benchmarking and looked at our business planning processes, which I believe the previous panel had walked you through.  So that was a direct outcome of not only the disallowance, but just, in general, the direction from the last rate order.

MR. CROCKER:  That didn't create any problems with -- operational problems for you, though, did it?

Doing the benchmark, responding to the Board's order, it didn't create any operational difficulties for you?

MR. PASQUET:  Doing the benchmarking, no, it didn't create operational difficulties.

MR. CROCKER:  Responding to the Board's order is my concern.  Whether that included benchmarking or whether that included trying to accommodate a disallowance, what I am suggesting to you, that neither of those created operational difficulties for you, did they?

MR. PASQUET:  We continued to operate the facilities in a safe, prudent manner.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  In fact, the issue became one of where you find the revenue, didn't it?

You either have an opportunity to have revenue provided from this pot or you have revenue provided by this pot, this pot being ratepayers, this pot being provided by your shareholder.

And so if one pot is reduced, you look to the other pot.  In fact, that is the kind of issue that the Board's disallowance created; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  So I repeat back again, I mean, in 2008 we had already essentially done our -- the year essentially was done, so there was an opportunity to impact 2008.

For 2009, we carried out a separate business planning process.  We looked to -- basically look for savings in our operation.  We believed that the level of expenditure to improve the operation of Pickering A was the right thing to go do for Pickering A in order to improve the reliability of the plant.

And so at the end, given that the rate order was based on total OM&A across the organization, we basically were able to achieve the savings across the organization.

MR. CROCKER:  Am I wrong, though, in describing the challenge that the Board's decision created for you, that you had to find the revenue from either one source or the other?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  We had to find it from one source or the other; correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn back, then, please, to page 6 of the compendium?

Can you tell me what the production unit energy costs that are set out in that little chart in the middle of the page would be in 2010, 2011, 2012?

I don't expect you to have those numbers at your fingertips.  You may, but I don't expect you to.

MR. MAUTI:  No.  We don't have them here, and I believe, as was described in the previous panel, we have changed the metric that we use for our unit energy cost.  We do not use production unit energy cost.  We use a combination of our value for money measures, including non-fuel operating costs and total generating costs, which I believe are part of this filing.  But we do not have production unit energy costs for that period of time.

MR. CROCKER:  So that we can make an apples-to-apples comparison or, more importantly, the Board can make an apples-to-apples comparison, are you able to provide those numbers to us?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  It would be possible to recalculate on a production energy unit cost, our old definition basis, and provide those numbers.  It is possible.

MR. CROCKER:  Can I ask for an undertaking, then, please?

MR. PASQUET:  So for one clarification, we would not be able to provide for the Bruce.

MR. MAUTI:  True.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, I understand that.  All right.  But for the other facilities?

MR. MAUTI:  For OPG facilities, yes, we could.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  to PROVIDE PRODUCTION UNIT ENERGY COST FOR OPG FACILITIES FOR 2010, 2011 AND 2012.

MR. ELLIOTT:  Just to comment that one of the new measures, we do have back to 2008.  So for comparison purposes, you can look at -- we have the new measures, total generating costs, and we have the -- we have that going back in the benchmarking report.

So it is another way of looking at it, is the measures we're looking at, we have now, we do have from the past in the evidence.  So that is another way of looking at it.

Your question -- the undertaking will do it, as well.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Thank you.  The costs for Pickering A that you set out on page 6 are higher than those of the other units that you have described there, aren't they?

MR. PASQUET:  Just for clarification, you are referring to the table?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  Okay, yes.  Yes, they are higher.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Are they... do you expect that to continue?  During the test period?

MR. PASQUET:  No, we don't.  If you reference Exhibit F2-1-1, attachment 8, it was the business planning direction that was provided by the CNO, and there is a page there which is titled "Pickering A" which -- now it does not have PUEC.  It has TUEC, so it is using our current measures that we're referring to.

So under the "value for money" there is projections from '10 and beyond.

MR. CROCKER:  What was the reference again, please?

MR. PASQUET:  I'm sorry.  It is F2-1-1, attachment number 8.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

I want to move on to a different area.  The financial plan that -- if you turn to -- sorry, turn to page 7, please, of the compendium.

I suggest to you that the financial plan that is depicted on that page is a pretty conservative business plan.  Don't you agree?

MR. MAUTI:  Sorry, I don't understand what you mean by "conservative business plan."

MR. CROCKER:  Well, I was trying to be gracious, but you are suggesting reduced costs here, are you not?

MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And that is a difference in trend.  The trend has been, I suggest, up until this point, a pretty steady escalation of costs.  Do you agree?

It is not depicted here.  I am asking you to take yourself out of the page and into your experience.

Planning has been generally an escalation of costs?

MR. PASQUET:  Clearly, costs have escalated pre-2008.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And so that is what I meant by conservative.  Would you go so far as to suggest this is an austerity program?

MR. PASQUET:  All right.  So when you define austerity, what would you -- how would you characterize that?

MR. CROCKER:  I am suggesting you are -- these are fairly significant cutbacks that you are proposing.

MR. PASQUET:  They are challenging targets, and when the benchmarking and business planning panel testified, you know, we had gone through a process in the last two business planning periods where we have set -- used a top-down business planning process to set aggressive targets, in order to -- and the aggressive targets are a balanced set of targets, not only on cost or value for money, but also on the reliability and maintaining the high level of safety that we have been able to achieve.

And so it is a balanced set of targets, as opposed to just focussing on one to the expense of the other.  So are they challenging?  Yes, they are challenging.

MR. CROCKER:  To continue the thought, then, that you have just begun, you would have to achieve some production gains in order to meet these targets.  Do you agree with that?

MR. MAUTI:  These are cost targets, not unit energy cost targets.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.  I understand that.  But I assume that your planning includes not only savings at the bottom, but production increases at the top, in order to provide you with these numbers?

MR. PASQUET:  Maybe to clarify, the business plan includes improvements in cost performance and they also include improvements in generation performance.  Clearly, if the units don't operate correctly or don't operate very well, then there is the opportunity to incur additional costs.

So it is an integrated plan.  It is an integrated business plan, which looks at combination of costs and reliability units to achieve this integrated set of results.

MR. CROCKER:  Is the planning detail -- sufficiently detailed for you to be able to provide us with an understanding of where those gains are to come from, in terms of your capacity gains?  I call them production gains.

MR. PASQUET:  So the -- for the production gains, I think probably the best -- question to ask of the production panel.

But in general, we are doing two things on the capacity side.

The first is to look for opportunities to minimize or streamline our outages, and therefore minimize the number of outage days.  And so there are a number of initiatives, which the production panel will speak to, about how to minimize the number of outage days.

And the second factor is obviously minimizing the forced-loss rate.

And in order to minimize forced-loss rate, we have undertaken things like improving plant material condition, minimizing our backlogs, and undertaking some work in that area to reduce our forced-loss rate.

And it is really a combination of reduced outage days plus reduced forced-loss rate which gives you a higher capacity factor.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You gentlemen have all been with OPG or its predecessor for quite some time.  And I would like you to take -- I would like to take you back to see whether we can compare what you are proposing here to some of the things that happened at Ontario Hydro years ago.

And I suggest to you that there were a series of rate hearings in the '90s that -- I think early-ish '90s.

They were labelled HR, and particularly, I am advised these issues arose -- the issues I am going to be asking you about arose in HR 19 to HR 21, if those things still exist and if the references are -- the material is still around.  But --


MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I just have a concern, though, about the line of questioning before my friend embarks upon it, is that he is going back to a period of time when it was a completely different corporation, or organization, completely different cost structure or arrangements.

And clearly outside the test period, obviously, of the current application, so I am not quite sure how it is indicative, if we go back that many years ago, to say:  This is what Ontario Hydro was doing.  This is what you are doing today.

I think the evidence before this Panel is this is what Ontario Power Generation intends on doing in the test year, and this is what it has done since our last filing.

So I am not quite sure what the relevance is, and I think it is, to some extent, unfair, given the fact that although these gentlemen have a long history with the company, to go back to regulatory proceedings which they may or may not have even been aware of at the time that they were employed there.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, with respect to the relevance, what I am going to suggest to these gentlemen is that Ontario Hydro made similar promises during this period of time, and if these gentlemen remember these promises, I would like them to talk to you about them.

I would like to canvass with them whether those promises, assurances were achieved then, and, if not, what kind of confidence can we have with respect to what they are proposing now?  They are perfectly capable of telling you that they don't remember, and, if that is the case, I will move on, but in terms -- these are people with the kind of institutional memory which I think can be of value to the Board.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, one moment, please.

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  If I could just add one point to that, and it is this.  Not getting into the relevance of this particular Hydro One piece, but if my friend's argument is that the only evidence you should look at historically is that associated with the test period and that contained in their evidence, that as a matter of principle CME would be opposed to.

I would simply point out that the Board often will look at historical horizons that go well before the test period, and so just as a matter of principle, whatever your decision is, I would encourage you not to -- or urge this Panel not to make the finding based on that it is contained only within the test period and that somehow people are limited to the test period in terms of their cross-examination, because I would submit, as a matter of principle, that would not be in accordance with what the Board's normal practice is.

MR. KEIZER:  Although I believe that we're talking about 12 years, based upon -- or longer, since this test period, and, in addition to that, a completely different organization and a hearing that was totally unrelated to the company that is currently before the Board.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, just a minute.

[Board Panel confer]

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board Panel believes that such questions may have some limited value.  However, it would be strictly limited to whether or not these witnesses had direct, relevant experience with the matters that you intend to raise, and, if they do not, then that would be where the matter would rest.

In response to Mr. DeRose's comment, yes, I mean, I think the scope and the time period does extend beyond the test period, but in terms of the relevance and weight we would give to material that goes back to a prior company and 15 years, that would be potentially quite limited.  So please continue.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

Do any of you gentlemen remember discussions at that time which included Ontario Hydro's assurances that there would be quality improvements, that there would be backlog reduction programs, and that there would be planned turnarounds in terms of performance production, as I called it?

MR. MAUTI:  Maybe you can help me.  What period of time are we talking about specifically?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, particularly, as I say, the HR 19 to 21, and I am advised that we are talking in terms of early to mid '90s.

MR. PASQUET:  For myself, I had no involvement in rate hearings at that point.  I had no involvement in business planning at that point.  Was I around when we were executing performance improvements?  I was executing some of these performance improvements, but as to setting the targets, as to devising the plan, I didn't have any specific involvement in that.

MR. MAUTI:  It was the early 1990s.  I wasn't even in the nuclear business unit.  I wasn't involved in business planning at all.

MR. ELLIOTT:  I would give the same answer as Mr. Pasquet, an implementer, but not a designer of the plan.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  But you do agree that you were tasked, during that period of time, with implementing programs which included the kinds of things I just described?

MR. PASQUET:  So in that period of time - and that would be true for any time period - the organization does look for opportunities to improve its business, improve productivity, improve the amount of production.

And so, yes, we are aware that there was -- and were implementing improvements, but not to expound on the point, you know, the targets and the direction, the strategic direction, we were -- the role I had at that point was implementation of particular improvements as opposed to setting strategic direction.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And do you recall not your personal, but the company's level of success in terms of achieving these improvements?  And would I be unfair to suggest to you that you didn't get as far as you would have liked?

MR. KEIZER:  I think the answer that they were implementers, that didn't indicate they had anything to do with designing or measuring the effectiveness of the programs.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, perhaps they can tell me whether they felt they had achieved what they were proposing to achieve or wanting to achieve.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think that is a fair question.

MR. PASQUET:  It would be fair to say, at that period of time, the results were mixed.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

All right, I needn't then go to the AMPCO interrogatory point, which is 24 on page 8.  I will take your answer to cover the point.

Do you think -- let me ask the question another way.  Are you doing things differently now to the point that you can tell me why we should have more assurance that you will be more successful with these kinds of programs now than was the case back then?

MR. PASQUET:  I think the major difference between the way we've carried out our business planning and executing our initiatives today versus 1990s was, over the last number of years, we have been much more linked and engaged with the balance of the industry.

We are much more heavily involved in industry working groups.  We are much more heavily involved with getting industry peers to come to our facility to provide feedback and input. We have adopted industry processes which have been shown to be successful at various utilities.

We have looked at the benchmarking of successful plants and we have adopted many of the targets that they have -- that they are using.  In fact, that was one of the things that we did when we undertook the benchmarking.

And so there are clearly areas where we need to improve our performance, but we are much closer linked to the industry and those particular facilities which have been successful, and I would say that would be a major difference between today and previous.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I understand your answer, but I don't understand how that outreach necessarily should provide us with more assurance that you can achieve your targets this time.

MR. PASQUET:  I guess maybe I didn't clarify.  If a utility is successful using this strategy, this process, these techniques to improve performance, then we should have reasonable assurance that if we execute the same type of style, same type of program at our facilities, we will achieve similar results.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I would like to move on to another area.  I would like you to turn to page 10 of the compendium, please.  OPG's O&M costs including -- include, rather, paying the costs of the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  We pay a licensing fee to the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  We pay a licensing fee to the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission; correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And that piece of O&M is mentioned in the paragraph entitled "licence" on page 10 of --


MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you go over the page and look under "licensing" on page 11, I suggest to you that those costs have steadily increased.  And -- although for the budget in 2010, decreases some, it once again increases from that point.  You would agree with that, wouldn't you?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  And you know, when you look at the impact of the -- or the impact of the increases and look at the impact statement, it is in fact higher than what we have quoted here for '11 and '12, right.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  We are going to go to that.

MR. PASQUET:  Right.

MR. CROCKER:  If we flip over again to page 12, and you take a look at SEC's Interrogatory No. 27, you suggest here that once again, things are going to be worse than in your chart.  I think you would agree with that.  I can point out to you if you need it, but I don't think you do.

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  We quote on the order of 6.5 million per year through 2010 to 2012.

MR. CROCKER:  And the impact statement that you are talking about, we reproduced at page 15 of the compendium.  And under the heading "CNSC fees" as you have said, it is going to be worse, or there is going to be more than the chart --


MR. PASQUET:  There is going to be more.  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  Okay.  I suggest to you that to some extent, at least, OPG can influence these costs, if only in terms of the work that you are asking the CNSC to do for you.  That's correct, isn't it?

In other words, what you do or what they do is ask you to reimburse their costs.  They work on a cost-recovery basis?

MR. PASQUET:  It is true they work on a cost-recovery basis, but we can't shop for regulatory work and approval.

They have a structure with a fixed number of people.  They carry out a mandate, which is clearly independent of OPG, and they then subsequently will charge us for that service.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Let's canvass that issue a little bit more carefully.

Let's go back to page 13 and look at the Green Energy Coalition Interrogatory 23.

They asked you to provide a breakdown of costs associated with environment, safety and economic studies concerning refurbishing of Pickering B, and you provided those amounts.

By my arithmetic, it is -- in fact, by Mr. Adams' arithmetic, so if we are wrong, it is his fault -- it is $49.1 million; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  Subject to check.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I am pretty confident.  Do you know whether any percentage of that is related to CNSC, their costs?

MR. PASQUET:  I can't comment specifically on the structure of those fees.  The details of the dollars associated with the Pickering B refurbishment are best dealt with by the refurbishment panel.

But what I can tell you is that the fees that we are being charged to the operating side of the plant deal with activities associated with the operating units, as opposed to refurbishment or new build activities.

MR. CROCKER:  Let's follow this on a bit further and see how far we can get.

Could you go over the page, please, to the GEC Interrogatory 22?  And first of all, let's talk about timing.

We are talking about the same things, the same projects, the same issues in Interrogatory 22 as we were in 23?  Agreed?

MR. PASQUET:  Environmental assessment was a subset of the refurbishment studies.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And it was -- the EA project description was issued in June, on June 15th, 2006, according to this.  That's correct, isn't it?  I am reading that correctly, aren't I?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Which means that the -- it was submitted somewhat earlier than that.  I don't know how much earlier than that, but it was submitted earlier than that?

MR. PASQUET:  I believe when you submit, they get it on the 15th.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  All right.  So the 15th was the submission date, then?

MR. PASQUET:  That's my understanding.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I thought I would have to deal with a decision that they made, but that's fine.

And these are all, these projects that are listed here are projects which CNSC had to do work on behalf of OPG; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  There was work carried out associated with refurbishment and the A project and the CNSC, correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we go to page 19 of the material -- and page 19 is page 62 of the transcript which was taken of the technical conference.  Okay?

You will see, starting at line 11, you say, "you" meaning OPG, says:

“The Pickering Integrated Safety Review Report was submitted to the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission on September 25th, 2009."

Is the Integrated Safety Review Report something different, again, than what we were talking about?  Or is it a --


MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  They're two different bodies of work.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  To what does it relate?

MR. PASQUET:  So environmental assessment is an environmental study to ascertain whether it is suitable to operate the facility, in this particular case, for another 25 to 30 years.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. PASQUET:  And whether the operation of the plant would have an adverse impact on the environment.  So that is the environmental assessment.

The Integrated Safety Review is a comparison of the plant to modern codes and standards, i.e., if we were going to build a nuclear facility today, how would the existing design of the nuclear facility compare to that existing design.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  It was another piece of work with respect to refurbishing Pickering B that you asked CNSC to review for you?  Or you did that -- that CNSC was to review for you?

MR. PASQUET:  There was review involved by the CNSC, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And then starting at line 14, the OPG board decided not to proceed with the Pickering B refurbishment project, and that decision was made on November 19th, 2009.

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Right?  That would include -- that decision would include not to follow through on the Integrated Safety Review that was mentioned in the line or so above that; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  I believe there was a time delay, but in that period of time.

MR. CROCKER:  And also the environmental review and the other issues that were described when we were discussing the GEC interrogatory?

MR. PASQUET:  At that point, the environmental assessment had already been completed.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  But cancelling the project meant the work that was done -- it meant that the work that
had -- it included cancelling the work that had been done with respect to review of the EA project and the safety review.

In other words, that work no longer had any relevance?

MR. PASQUET:  The EA project, the EA work had already been completed, and there had been a ruling by the commissioners.

At that point, there was Integrated Safety Review that was ongoing.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Both of those pieces of work became irrelevant when you cancelled the refurbishment?

MR. PASQUET:  They were documents that were on the record.  They were, then, no longer -- because we were no longer refurbishing, work had stopped.  And so were they germane to refurbishment?  Obviously not, because we weren't refurbishing anymore.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If the decision not to refurbish Pickering B had been made earlier, all of the costs that CNSC had incurred and you had to top-up or respond to could have been saved; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  So let me reiterate the comment I made before.

The dollars for licensing in the base OM&A relate to the operation of the operating units.  The regulatory costs associated with activities, such as new build, refurbishment - that could be refurbishment at Pickering B or refurbishment at Darlington - are charged separately and are not in the particular line that you first made reference to.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's set aside that, then, and deal with it without reference to that specific line item.

The costs that you had to compensate CNSC for, with respect to the refurbishment of Pickering B, could have been saved or some of those costs could have been saved had the decision to -- not to refurbish Pickering B been made earlier; correct?  That is a pretty simple statement.

MR. PASQUET:  Right.  So associated with the timing of the decisions around the refurbishment announcement and the timing around the sequencing, that is covered by the refurbishment panel.

So, you know, if you are ultimately getting into timing of decisions and announcements, then the refurbishment panel is the right panel then to engage that discussion with.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I can ask them and I will ask them the question, but the question was a pretty simple question, I think.

The question was:  If the decision had been made earlier, some of those costs could have been saved?  If the decision had been made significantly earlier, perhaps all of those costs could have been saved; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  So --


MR. CROCKER:  Whether the decision could have been made is another matter, and that is something that I can see another panel talking about.  But simple -- simply on the...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  I guess I am struggling -- maybe it is a simple question and I am just missing it, but I am trying to understand.  The witness said he wasn't part of the refurbishment and decisions that were made with respect to these, and there are other parties coming forward that were involved in the actual decisions relating to this and were actually involved with when and why decisions were made to go to the CNSC or not to go to the CNSC.

It would seem to me the best evidence would come from that panel as opposed to this panel.

MR. CROCKER:  I still think it is a simple question.  I have one question which follows it, depending on the answer, and, as I say I --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I think the Board is interested in having the best information.  This panel has said the refurbishment panel is the one that can answer it.  So would it not be -- it sounds like you could ask the question to the refurbishment panel and your follow-up question.

MR. CROCKER:  I am going to jump ahead in my questioning, and I will come back to this when I -- when we get to the refurbishment panel -- to see whether this panel can answer the next question in line with this, and, if not, I will save it all for the other panel.

Can you tell me, please, the period of time within which the Pickering A refurbishment took place?

MR. PASQUET:  So specifically Pickering A was not a refurbishment, it was a return to service.  At the technical conference, we talked a little bit of the differences in the style of project, and I am sure you are just referring to the Pickering A return to service activities.  Not to belabour the point, but it was not a refurbishment.

So in 1997, the units were shut down.  There was some preliminary work that was started in 2000, and ultimately the units returned to service mid 2000, both units 1 and 4.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Before any of the submissions that we were reviewing with you, with respect to Pickering B, were made; that is, the ones described in the interrogatory 23 of GEC and the ones we talked about afterwards?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  There were two distinct projects and activities.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand your answer.  And fair to say, from the benchmarking evidence which is already before the Panel, that that the return to service work that you did on Pickering A was not completely successful?

MR. ELLIOTT:  You haven't defined success.  What it set out to do was to bring Pickering A up to modern codes and standards for safety.  It brought the station up to codes and standards for fire protection, for environmental protection, for environmental qualification.  It brought in a second shutdown system for nuclear safety.

So in that way, it was fully successful.  It made the plant a safe plant in the 2000s era.

MR. CROCKER:  And what you did with respect to Pickering A you are suggesting had nothing to do with contributing to its efficiency, to contributing to its competitiveness with other nuclear facilities?

MR. ELLIOTT:  There was some work on reliability and competitiveness, but the major work was around safety.

MR. CROCKER:  Fair to say that the work with respect to reliability was not completely successful?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I would say it wasn't done.  It wasn't completed.

The work with respect to reliability has been done since then and is still continuing to be done.

MR. CROCKER:  And to use Mr. Pasquet's words, the results are mixed; would you agree?

MR. ELLIOTT:  The performance in Pickering A hasn't yet met OPG's expectations.  We believe our plan will bring it to those expectations.

MR. CROCKER:  Was the return to service work that was done on Pickering A any example to you or any precedent to you with respect to whether -- let me ask the question another way.  If I were dictating, I would dictate over this, but we will just say let's start again.

Do you not think that the results of the reliability work, at least at Pickering A, could have been a lesson, could have been a precedent from which you could have learned that perhaps the refurbishment of Pickering B might not have been the best idea?

MR. PASQUET:  So Mr. Elliott, in his answer, talked to some great extent around bringing Pickering A up to the modern regulatory expectations around fire protection, various safety functions.

The work that was carried out in the studies on Pickering B, to a large extent, demonstrated that Pickering B was a safe plant, and in the area of safety, fire protection, those types of areas, there was a minimal amount of work that needed to get done.  And, in fact, you had to go through the integrated safety review to actually physically demonstrate that.

The predominant work that would have been done in a Pickering B refurbishment was associated with replacing the major components.  That would be replacement of pressure tubes, calandria tubes, feeders, replacement of boilers, and then looking at a number of other pieces of equipment for which might be -- not been able to go for its full mission time, so motors and things like that that would have to be replaced.

So that was the scope, as opposed to what was done on Pickering A, which was very complex work which involved work integrating a number of improvements into safety systems, significant wiring changes.  That particular project was a complex project.


MR. CROCKER:  So are you suggesting to me, then, that you didn't -- there was nothing that OPG could have learned from what was done at Pickering A with respect to the refurbishment work that was undertaken and then terminated at Pickering B?

MR. PASQUET:  So let me answer the question, because like I said, I didn't answer the question you asked.

The key lessons out of Pickering A were around project management, was getting ready, getting prepared, mobilizing the right people, execution of work.

And those were the key lessons.

The project on Pickering B, compared to the return to service project on Pickering A, was a different scope of work.

And so the lessons learned around scope of work, well, it didn't apply because, you know, we didn't replace pressure tubes and calandria tubes and feeders and boilers at Pickering A.  We did a different body of work.

The lessons that came out of Pickering A were really more generic in nature, around project planning, were around those types of issues as opposed to around the scope of work.

And I don't know if that gets to the point you were asking, but that was basically what we learned out of Pickering A.

MR. CROCKER:  I think I will pursue it with the refurbishment panel, then, beyond that.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have no further questions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Stephenson, I have you next in the order.

Procedural Matters:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Just before I start, I just wanted to deal with the ruling that you made this morning.  And I don't want to spend any time arguing about this issue now.  I have your ruling and I certainly respect that.

I am concerned, however, in this respect, and this applies both with respect to my client and with respect to the Society.

I don't -- and you raised the issue of fairness to the parties around the issue of the order of cross-examination, and I am certainly sensitive to that issue and I am sensitive to the issue around fairness to all parties.

I don't feel I have had the opportunity to make any submissions about this issue, and certainly my friends from the Society haven't had any opportunity to make any submissions around this issue at all.  I have no idea whether they wish to, and I don't speak for them, but there is no doubt that they haven't made any submissions about it.

So I am not -- I don't have any problem today.  I don't want to take any more time about it today, but at an appropriate moment, I would like to make submissions about the issue, and I think that the Society should have the opportunity to make submissions around the issue, if they see fit to.

And I leave it in the Board's hands as to how they want to handle that, but I would like that opportunity at the appropriate moment.

But I am prepared to do my cross-examination of this panel at this time.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Just on that, we will consider your request.  Perhaps if we were not clear enough this morning, we -- and Mr. Crocker's comments perhaps highlighted the need to reaffirm this -- we have not made any finding that we believe that the PWU or the Society to be friendly to OPG.  That is the specific reason why we are not requiring you to go to first.

So that being said, in case there was any ambiguity about that.  As regard your request to be able to make submissions on this issue more generally, the Panel will consider that and we will get back to you on that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I appreciate that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So if you can proceed with your cross-examination?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  I wanted to start by talking to you about or speaking with you about the Pickering B continued operation subject.  You are the panel on that one; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I just want to make sure I understand this issue generally, first off.

As I understand it, currently, if nothing -- if your proposed work is not done, the Pickering B units would be scheduled for shutdown during the period of 2014 through 2016.  Am I correct about that?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the two Pickering A units have a longer life, as I understand it; is that correct?  Beyond that?

But there is an issue that we are going to talk about in a second.

MR. PASQUET:  So if Pickering A could be operated independently of Pickering B, then Pickering A units could operate longer.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And as I understand it, there are both economic and technical issues around the issue of Pickering A operating independently of the Pickering B?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And it is OPG's current judgment that those economic and technical issues are such that you won't do it; is that fair?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  That is not in our plan to do, to operate Pickering A independent of Pickering B.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Then the proposal or the plan, assuming you went ahead with this continued operations program, would have the effect of extending the life of or the continued operation of the Pickering B units, essentially for four additional years, 2018 through 2020; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And it would have the ancillary benefit, I gather, of the Pickering A units, in effect, tagging along for those additional -- until 2020?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And there is a nexus between this issue and the Darlington issue, as I understand it, because you have done an economic analysis of the proposed project.  And the economics of that depend, in part, upon what is proposed to happen at Darlington.

Am I right about that?

MR. PASQUET:  So from a system perspective, it is beneficial to have the Pickering units operate to 2020, given that the Darlington units would be started into the refurbishment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And as I understand it, the proposal on Darlington is that the refurbishment of those units would start in 2016; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And would carry on for roughly seven or so years, through to 2024; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the advantage of the continued operations plan is that it would allow the Pickering units to be available during that 2016 through 2020 time frame, at a point in time when some of the Darlington units are off-line?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so you would have the

advantage -- I gather from an economic perspective, you see two advantages, at least, from this.

Number one being that you get the benefit of the production out of the Pickering units; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And number two, you are -- to the extent you don't do it, Darlington is also going to be out, and therefore you are going to have higher-cost power replacing not only Pickering, but also Darlington?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just coming back to Darlington for a moment, am I right that -- and maybe you are not the panel to talk about this -- but if you don't do the Darlington refurb at the moment the first Darlington unit is scheduled to go out in -- around 2018.  Are you familiar with that?

MR. PASQUET:  The specific time frames?

MR. STEPHENSON:  You have a Darlington panel.  I will talk to them about that.

Now, the life extension which -- we have talked about in terms of more or less about four years per unit; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Am I right that the four years, like talking about calendar years, is really just actually a proxy for operating hours?  Is that correct?

What you are actually gaining by doing this work is additional operating hours?

MR. PASQUET:  So the principle is by achieving extra operating hours on our pressure tubes, that allows us to get, essentially, four more calendar years on the actual units.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And am I right that in a perfect world -- sorry.  Let me back up.

And you have projected that this -- by virtue of performing this activity and the impacts it has, there is a positive net present value to the electricity system as a whole by doing this work; correct?

MR. PASQUET: That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And am I right that directionally if, in a perfect world, instead of going out to 2020 you went out to 2021, that NPV would get bigger directionally?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the reason for that is because the power that is going to have to replace this power is going to be, more likely than not, more expensive.  That's the source of the positive NPV?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the higher the cost of the replacement power, the greater the positive NPV?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of the calculation of the four calendar years, I take it you have made certain assumptions in terms of the manner of operation of these units, in terms of outages and so forth, where you translate the operating hours into years; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  So when we've determined that we can take our major component pressure tubes to 240,000 fuel- power hours, that takes into account the time when we would be -- the units would be shut down and outages, et cetera.  And when we lay that out, it basically comes to, as you correctly say, an additional four years of operation for these units.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The question I have for you is this.  Did OPG explore the possibility of managing the operation of the units, during this extended operation period in a manner where, in effect, you operated at less hours per year during the four years, to convert four years into maybe five, for example, so that you actually do get out into 2021, and did you compare what the NPV would be under that -- under a longer than four-calendar-year scenario versus the one you are actually proposing?

MR. PASQUET:  Not specifically.  And the reason for that, given that majority of the costs tend to be fixed, whether you are operating or not, by having units shut down for a longer period of time would affect the total generating -- the total costs of operating these units in that period of time without getting that respective generation.

So the view was the most effective manner was to operate to approximately 2020.  In the operating strategy that had been laid out, specifically did we say, If you shut down for another year to get to 2021?  That wasn't looked at.  But superficially the view was that would basically be cost prohibitive.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, intuitively it is obvious.  I understand.  You can't shed the costs.  Your costs are essentially entirely fixed in the very short term.

But -- and if you are not producing, you are obviously incurring the costs and not getting the revenue.  But you would be gaining something at the other end, wouldn't you?

MR. PASQUET:  You would be gaining, but, you know, you're talking incrementally a small percentage value as opposed to a very large incremental expenditure having units shut down.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me then just come back to the proposal.  As I understand it, you've got a relatively short -- sorry, relatively small window of time in order to do the work you need to do in order to permit this continued operation; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  We have -- we have basically two fundamental blocks of work, one which is a study which is going to ultimately determine the available life in the pressure tubes, and that is the fuel channel management study which is referenced in the evidence.

And the second block of work, which is work that we need to perform now to enable us to achieve the extra four years, some of the work that we will do in the next couple of years will actually provide data to support the fuel channel life management program; other work which is to ensure that we preserve the asset, for example, such as boilers, to allow us then to achieve the additional four years.

So there is a fairly tight window, as you correctly said, to allow us to get this body of work done.  That then enables us to make the decision around the additional four years.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And am I right that if you don't do this work during the test period - that is, by 2012 - then the decision is made for you?  You are not doing it at all, and these units are going to start closing in 2014.  That's the bottom line?

MR. PASQUET:  That's the bottom line.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I just wanted to ask you a couple of questions about OM&A generally.

Oh, sorry, just to come back, before leaving the life extension, continued operations issue for a moment, the positive NPV that you are forecasting as a result of this, I think, is 1.1 billion; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I may simply have missed this, but that is a positive NPV to electricity consumers, generally; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so it is not -- that doesn't accrue entirely to OPG, or maybe not even primarily to OPG?

MR. PASQUET:  It basically gets accrued by the ratepayers.

MR. STEPHENSON:  By virtue of having lower cost power in future years?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Presumably OPG would get some proportion of that benefit, but by no means all of it?

MR. PASQUET:  I would be unaware of any specific benefit that OPG would derive, other than, you know, providing lower power.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, you get the benefit of the revenue for the continued period?

MR. PASQUET:  That's true.  I'm sorry, I misunderstood your question.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Then in terms of the quantification of the NPV, I gathered you did some analysis of that.  And I think it is in your prefiled evidence at Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 3, page 8.  There is a chart of NPV sensitivities.

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I confess that I didn't fully understand the chart, but I think I understand it to this extent.  The key sensitivity is, in fact, the electricity price in the marketplace during the relevant period; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  This is the HOEP we're talking about?

MR. PASQUET:  This is the system equivalent energy values.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It is the comparison of your cost of power versus whatever the replacement would have been?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that accounts for the lion's share of the sensitivities; is that fair?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then when we talk about incremental costs, which is the bottom line, the fourth item on the chart --


MR. PASQUET:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. STEPHENSON:  -- is that talking about -- is that the issue of if this project costs you more than you are forecasting?  Is that what -- the incremental costs we're talking about?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  So the example, as I said there, is what happens -- what would be the derived benefit of doubling the costs of the project versus half the costs of the project.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the answer is it doesn't seem to have a lot of impact, at least relatively speaking?

MR. PASQUET:  It is relatively insensitive to cost.  It is very sensitive to price of electricity.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the ACF is the average capacity factor of the units during the continued operation period; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  So we have made assumptions around the capacity factor of the units.  We have also made assumptions around forced-loss rate.  And, in fact, we have made some -- we have escalated the -- in our business case, there are studies associated with this escalated aging with life and potential reduction in capacity factors.

So that has been built into the analysis which we have done.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Just on the electricity price issue, that was done at least in some conjunction with OPA, is that right, or is that your forecast?

MR. PASQUET:  So that is our forecast.  When we submitted the business case or this information to the OPA, they basically came to a similar conclusion, that this project would be of benefit to the ratepayers. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  And at the time you were making those forecasts, was that -- did you take into account the impact of the feed-in tariff on electricity prices?  The feed-in tariff, were you aware of that issue? 

MR. PASQUET:  No, we weren't, that I am aware of. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And on the basis of that answer, have you done a re-look at that issue, in terms of forecasting the electricity prices, in light of the feed-in tariff initiatives?

MR. PASQUET:  I don't believe we've done a reforecasting based on that.  I don't believe. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I ask you to, for an undertaking, to check and to tell us?  And if you have, then to tell us what the change in the forecast is and what the impact on the NPV is?

MR. MAUTI:  That would be to confirm whether we have done the reforecast based on that? 

MR. STEPHENSON:  And if the answer is yes, to report what it tells you.

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, we could do that. 

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we can check.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  to CONFIRM WHETHER REFORECASTING HAS BEEN DONE IN LIGHT OF THE FEED-IN TARIFF INITIATIVES, AND If SO, PROVIDE REFORECASTING.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just moving to base OM&A for a moment, can I ask you to turn up in the prefiled evidence Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 2, table 1C?

And I am doing this strictly for illustrative purposes.  I am not going to ask you about any numbers.

This chart breaks down for us -- with some degree of granularity -- the various OM&A cost areas within your business; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  These are the cost categories as per our filing for base OM&A, yes. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And here's my question for you.  I am used to -- I appreciate this, because I wind up doing more Hydro One cases than I do OPG cases, but this also came up vis-à-vis the Hydro hydraulic panel.

Sometimes there is a category called "sustaining OM&A" as compared to operations OM&A and development OM&A. 

I take it you don't categorize your costs in those categories?  Am I right about that that? 

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  The OM&A categories we have, the base OM&A that you see within this filing, and then we identify our incremental outage cost as outage OM&A, and then our project-related expenditures that are OM&A-related.

Those are the three main categories we have.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.

MR. MAUTI:  And manage to OM&A.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't even know whether you are familiar with the concept of sustaining OM&A.  Maybe you are and maybe you're not.

I take it that these categories, your categories would contain elements of the other categories.  There is overlaps all over the place, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Can you repeat what the categories -- I heard sustaining, and...

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sustaining, operations and development.  Development being increasing the size of your business, which is not particularly germane here. 

MR. MAUTI:  Between sustaining and operating, I wouldn't know where to draw a distinction or comparison but --


MR. STEPHENSON:  I can't tease out from your numbers what would fit into those categories. 

MR. MAUTI:  I think I would have to see what the definition of those categories would be.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  That is all I was looking for.

You spoke about the impact of the top-down budgets and how you considered those targets to be aggressive.  Did I correctly understand you on that point?

MR. MAUTI:  We used the word "challenging" but...

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, fair enough.

And what I understood from the benchmarking and business budgeting panel that just preceded you was that an intrinsic element of top-down budgeting was an awareness that the cost savings that were being mandated, when allocated out to different projects, some of them might not materialize.

Some of them simply might not work, but that you had to -- there was a whole philosophy that if this project didn't work, then we would find it somewhere else.

Are you familiar with that kind of philosophy that has been embedded?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  The definition and the use of initiatives and how we would go about trying to achieve those targets is a fluid exercise.  Other initiatives may come in that we find may be more attractive.  Others that we thought had value, upon further assessment, may not panel out or have the benefit we thought they would.

So it is an ever-evolving and live process we follow. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  And am I right that that dynamic kind of approach you are talking about, is that, within your business, your area of responsibility, in terms of:  If this isn't working, then we have to find something else to make this work?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe Mr. Tremblay answered on the previous panel that there is an organization that was established to track some of these larger fleet-wide initiatives that had been determined, but I believe in addition to the fleet-wide initiatives, there are targets and challenges that are provided to each of the stations in each of the support divisions within nuclear, at which point they have their go-dos to identify those savings and try to drive them out of their business.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of achieving cost reductions by virtue of this top-down process, am I correct that the savings that have been forecast to be achieved are not savings that -- are not simply by virtue of deferral of work?

You are not doing less work in the current period and doing more work in the future period.  That is not how the savings have been achieved; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  We may be looking for more efficient ways of carrying out the same work, but we are not deferring work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  You may be doing it differently?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But you are not doing less of it? 

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  You were asked earlier about the -- and you are certainly aware of the fact that there was a disallowance on the OM&A side for part of the Pickering budget, and you spoke about that earlier. 

The question I have for you is:  If the Board was inclined to go down that road again, how do you as an organization deal with that, in terms of what you've already planned to do?  If they want another -- they say another cut is warranted, what room do you have and how do you respond to that as a -- from a business perspective in terms of your OM&A budgets going forward, or your work plan?

MR. PASQUET:  Clearly, we would have to see what the nature of the order was and what the specifics around it were.

But with the top-down business planning, there is a reasonable chance that incremental reductions might have the effect of reducing the work we plan to do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And one last item, which is -- and I spoke with this with the last panel briefly -- but one of the items that you have to deal with, I gather, in terms of your costs are, obviously, regulatory requirements?  Fair? 

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And one of the regulatory requirements that you face, I gather, is -- from the CNSC as opposed to this regulator -- is that, with respect to certain of your functions within your plants, you've got minimum complements; correct? 

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you've got various headcount numbers in your materials, but some -– and I assume that not 100 percent of the people in your headcount are subject to minimum complement.  Fair? 

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But some category is?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  There is a distribution between various trade groups that are in our minimum complement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I think we heard, but, you, know, that is a licence requirement, I take it, from the CNSC; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  There is a principle that we have to have sufficient amount of staff to respond to certain events, and we have to demonstrate that we have sufficient people on hand at any given time to be able to do that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  So to the extent you are going to get -- you are going to vary from those, you can only do so to the extent you have the authority from your regulator?

MR. PASQUET:  So any changes to the specific numbers in the minimum complement have to get specific approval of the CNSC.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Is Mr. Bellmore  here?  No, okay.

Mr. Millar, I have you next.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Do you have any -- would it be inconvenient for you to start?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I am in your hands.  I have well more than ten minutes.  Maybe what I will do is I will start going, with your permission, and you can cut me off whenever you like.  I will try to find something just before noon, but if I am going too long, you can let me know.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  I have prepared a booklet of materials again which I would like to circulate.  This will be Exhibit K4.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.2: COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS PREPARED BY BOARD STAFF FOR PANEL 3.

MR. MILLAR:  Once again, these documents are almost entirely taken straight from the application.  There are a couple that aren't.  I think there is an interrogatory response from the last case, and I think we put together a chart or two using data taken directly from the application.  But I think otherwise it is all directly from the application, and whatever isn't, we sent to you in advance.

So do you have a copy of that booklet?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to start off with some questions about -- following up on Board Staff Interrogatory No. 45, which you will see at page 1 of the booklet.  Again, when I refer to page numbers, I will be referring to the handwritten page at the top.

And there is a bit of history to this question, so if you will bear with me, I am going to walk you through a couple of documents before I actually start asking questions about this, but I want to make sure we all understand what we're talking about.

If I could read from the interrogatory, at the very first line, it is a quote taken from Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1.  I haven't reproduced that page here, but that is where this quotation is from.  And I will read it in.  It says, "The application notes on page 1," and I quote:
"OPG has made significant operational and cost improvements which have been demonstrated since the previous application: Specifically:
"2012 base OM&A costs are to be forecast to be below 2008 actual costs, with cumulative work-driven cost savings of $260M for the 2010 - 2012 period;..."


Then it goes on:
"2012 regular staff levels are forecast below 2008 levels by 689 staff, while non-regular..."

I think that 17 is a typo.

"...while non-regular staff FTEs are reduced by 559."


Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you flip ahead to page 5 of the Staff booklet, I think you are talking about the same thing here.

You will see this is taken from Exhibit A1, tab 3, schedule 1.  It says "Operating Expense" close to the top.  And the paragraph starting at line 14 explains, if you just flip down a bit, that you have developed seven key initiatives that have assisted you in reducing costs.  Is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And so what Staff asked you in IR 47 was to provide us essentially with a breakdown of what the FTE and the cost savings were associated with those key measures.  I'm sorry, it is IR 45, not 47.  Again, that is on page 1 through 3.

What you provided us with, with some explanation, in fairness, but you provided us with table 1 which appears at page 3 of the Staff booklet.  That is OM&A savings associated with fleet-wide initiatives.

And if you look down to the totals at the bottom, I think the cumulative savings for 2011-2012 add up to just over $40 million.  Then you note below that, starting at line 9 of that same page, it says:
"As seen in notes 1 and 2... the total divisional costs are the net of divisional [targeted reductions' and divisional 'additional expenditures'."

Then you give the numbers of 36.3 million or 41.7 million.  Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  So what Staff did is we put all of that together, and at the technical conference what we did was we added those three numbers up.  We added the 40 million and the 36 million and the 41 million, and we came up with a total, I think, of 118 million in savings resulting from that.

You can see that the technical conference question starts on page 7, but if you flip to page 8, that is where we have done that math.

And immediately under that, we ask you to reconcile the total savings of $118 million with the $260 million savings -- in savings that are referred to in the application.

I do apologize for the long wind-up.  I am hoping I will get to an actual question before we hit 12:00.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  But if we flip ahead to your response to that, that is on page 9.  It is the response to (b).  You say:
"The questions referred to divisional and local cost reduction measures when, as indicated at L1-45, page 3, the amount of 36.3 and 47.1 million..."

Pardon me:
"... 41.7 million are in fact the net divisional and local cost reduction targets for 2011 and 2012, respectively.  The fleet-wide initiatives and the divisional local cost reduction measures are the means for achieving these cost targets.  It is therefore not appropriate to add the amounts, as have been done in part (b) of the question.  Similarly, the requested reconciliation of 118.3 million would not be appropriate."

So I have to confess we weren't quite following you there, and I guess it is sort of a two-part question.  One, why were we wrong to add up those numbers to come up with a guesstimate on total savings?  And, two, even if we were wrong to do that, how can we find the $260 million that you refer to in your application?

MR. MAUTI:  Let me jump to the second part of the question, where do you find the $260 million.  And I will flip back to our submitted evidence.

If you go to F2-2-1, page 16, referred to as chart 2 in the evidence?  I will give you a minute to get to the reference again.

MR. MILLAR:  Can I have the reference again, please?

MR. MAUTI:  F2-2-1, page 16.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I have it.

MR. MAUTI:  The chart on the bottom of that page describes the process to derive the $260 million that you see as a cumulative total at the bottom of that table.

What we do is we look at the base OM&A submissions from 2010 to 2012, compare the changes in base OM&A as compared to 2008.  We used 2008 as the base reference year to compare to.  That was the first year of regulation for OPG.  We wanted to provide a context against that year.

We do that comparison comparing to 2008 and adding up those values for the three years, and then to look at it on a more common basis, we adjust for things like escalation or differences, because of either continued ops or refurbishment, in order to get to more of a normalized constant dollar kind of approach and getting rid of something like a continued operations, which tends to skew the number.

We are trying to get more to that sustaining base number for base OM&A.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, thank you for that.  Madam Chair, I do have a number of follow-up questions on this.  I see we are right at 12 o'clock, though, so this might be -- I am not sure if it is an appropriate place to break, but I am not sure if we have much choice.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, how long did you think you would be?

MR. MILLAR:  More than ten minutes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Then I think we will take our break now.  It is 12 o'clock, so we will return at 1 o'clock.

MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, could I make one quick comment before you break?  It is for illustrative purposes while it is fresh.

In terms of --


MS. CHAPLIN:  If has to do with the issue of PWU, I am going to say "no".

[Laughter]

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:08 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

Good afternoon, panel.  When we left, we were discussing chart 2 on Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 16, and maybe I would ask people to have that in front of them.

I would like to take a look through this chart to see what it is telling us, and what it isn't.  First of all, if I see what you have done, if you look at line 2, it says:  "Base OM&A change versus 2008."  Then for 2010, 2011 and 2012, you have various figures, 56, 51 and 23 million.

Do you see that? 

MR. MAUTI:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  All you have done there is you simply – you've subtracted your 2010 numbers from your 2008 numbers and then for 2001 and 2012; is that right? 

MR. MAUTI:  Right.  Always comparing back to the 2008 base, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  So those are the -- at least in the numbers in your application versus your actuals -- those are the actual savings; is that right?  131 million? 

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  That would be the difference between what our submitted amounts are in the application versus 2008. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Then you have made -- lines 3 and 4 have two adjustments, and without -- I want to make sure I understand what these are, but I will put it to you this way and you can tell me if I've got it wrong.

Essentially, what you have done is you have taken two elements that you had to spend money for, for 2010 to 2012, but you didn't have to in 2008, so you have made an adjustment on account of that, and you have essentially subtracted those numbers –- well, you have added them and then ultimately subtracted them.

But you but what you have done is made an adjustment on that basis; is that correct? 

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  It's trying to normalize back to 2008 period, so that we're talking this would be same basic understanding of dollars throughout the whole period. 

MR. MILLAR:  I guess in your view, you were making an apples-to-apples comparison, so you had to take out some costs that wouldn't have been there back in 2008?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, year-over-year, you will have different work and different projects; is that fair enough?  No two years will be the same?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And wouldn't there be some adjustments going the other way? 

MR. MAUTI:  As you mentioned, during business planning there is always new work that is identified.  There is changing priorities.  There is a re-scoping of work.  That happens all the time.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you only made adjustments downwards, though?  Is that fair? 

MR. MAUTI:  We did identify the two things, one being the natural inflationary impact on wages through escalation and whatnot. 

And the second being a very specific, significant project, an undertaking we are doing related to continued operations to be able to identify those two key factors.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, could I take you to pages 8 and 9 of the Staff booklet?

This is your response to a question from the technical conference.  And I guess to make a long story short, what Staff did was we put a number of 78.7 million to you, and that was our calculation of certain savings you would have realized absent your seven key initiatives, and those were because it was work that you are no longer doing, that wasn't -- that had fallen off since 2008.

And what you said to us was:  No, you've got 78.7 million wrong.  But there were, in fact, $33 million relative to the 2008 base line that just fell off because those projects ceased; is that correct? 

MR. MAUTI:  The positioning was that the $78 million was being compared to a base OM&A savings, and what we were trying to identify in our recalculation is that many of those factors that you have taken into account were either project- or outage-related.

So we were trying, again, to come up with that apples-to-apples comparison.  So we identified, during that same period of time of 2010 to 2012, those base OM&A items in relation to the 2008 year, to make it comparable to our $260 million number which I spoke of just before the break.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  In fairness, you said we had -- 78.7 million was not the correct number, but 33 million was the correct number.  That was your answer. 

MR. MAUTI:  On a comparison against 2008?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. MAUTI:  Again, any comparison where your -- any delta change you have to always wonder about, making sure you have the same comparator, the same year you are comparing against, to make it a valid comparison.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess just getting back to chart 2, it seems that you have made certain adjustments that are favourable to you, to the extent that they bulk up the 131 million to 260 million.

But surely there would be other offsets going the other way.  I am just -- I am wondering why those weren't calculated, or those weren't included in your estimate of 260 million.

MR. MAUTI:  Again, as I indicated, the first adjustment specifically deals with the inflationary sort of impact of burdens and salary escalation over the period of time, and as you are trying to do a comparison of work, an undertaking of work, you tend to try to normalize through those dollars.

That is the main reason for the adjustment on line 3 being the escalation adjustment. 

And as I indicated, we submitted our business plan, and view it with and without a continued operations, because it is a rather significant aspect of our plan.  So comparison with and without tends to be how we have done our analysis of business planning and costs going forward.  That is why we adjusted for that line, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I think you've repeated your previous answer, but I have your answer, so thank you for that.

Again, looking at the chart, the 131 million or, I guess, the delta between 2008 and the plan years, the other two adjustments are made to give us an apples-to-apples comparison, at least as I understand you. 

So can I take it, then, that if we were looking as to how to get the impact of your seven key initiatives, we should be looking at the number of $131 million in savings; is that correct?

Your seven key initiatives would have nothing to do with the other two adjustments?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  Yes, in terms of the seven key initiatives and the savings that they would generate, they would help support that $131 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the reference for that would be 131 million, as opposed to 260 million?

MR. MAUTI:  Sorry, the reference for which? 

MR. MILLAR:  The seven key initiatives would impact the $131 million? 

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 

MR. MAUTI:  In addition to any other savings that we would have to have to build up to that 131 million.

MR. MILLAR:  And this gets back to what we were trying to ask you in Board Staff Interrogatory 45, that is back at page 3 of the booklet.

And we ask you to break out the savings for us.

You gave us the number of 40 million there.  Am I right that that 40 million is part of the 131 million? 

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  That would be. 

MR. MILLER:  And is that the numbers from 2011 and 2012?

MR. MAUTI:  That would be our estimate of the initiatives' savings, not just the seven, but I believe this would be the 33 initiatives' savings, totals during the test period.

MR. MILLAR:  And the reason we have 40 million of savings as opposed to 131 is because we haven't carried this table back to 2008?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  Well, the 131 million, as I indicated, is more than just the fleet-wide initiatives.  Is a combination of these initiatives, as well as other cost-cutting measures and targets that we had provided to each of the divisions and stations to achieve.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to provide -- this chart in Staff IR 45 is very helpful, but what we're looking for and we are trying to get is a similar chart that will show us the whole $131 million, in year-over-year savings. 

Is that something that you would be able to provide us with?

MR. MAUTI:  If the question is, can I take that table 1 on IR L1-45 and if you are trying to compare to the 131, we would have to add a 2010 year, because that is missing from the table.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. MAUTI:  The IR just asks for the test period, and to make it an apples-to-apples, we could includes the 2010.

Again, that would give you the impact from the fleet-wide initiatives on our total cost reduction targets.  It would not be complete, obviously.  There would be other reductions that would be expected to be made.

MR. MILLAR:  What would those other things be? 

MR. MAUTI:  There's a series of things, actually, on that L1-45, right after the table, we talk about local and divisional measures, things such as contracted services, outsourcing, overtime, organizational consolidations, the scope of the work that we're doing.

It was the challenge that we gave each of the stations and divisions to reduce, over and above the fleet-wide initiatives.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is -- what we had when we added up the numbers, I believe, was $118 million.  To get to the rest of the 131, you would have to carry this chart back to 2010; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, you mentioned the 118 million, which I guess I never answered that question that was posed just before the break.  The 118 million that you are referencing uses two targets that you had at a sort of divisional level for the business for 2011 and 2012, in total, which would have included fleet-wide initiatives as part of that target, and then you have added fleet-wide initiatives over and on top of that again.

So, in effect, you are double counting the fleet-wide initiatives, which is why the 118 we pointed out wasn't appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think to take a step back, I think I had you close to agreeing that you could complete the chart for the years prior to 2011, the chart in Board Staff 45.

Could I ask you to do that?

MR. MAUTI:  Back to 2010, yes

MR. MILLAR:  I guess to account for the remaining dollars.  I am not sure how far back you have to carry it.

MR. MAUTI:  These initiatives were only done during the business planning process last year, so they would only start in --


MR. MILLAR:  It would just be 2010?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking J4.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.3: TO PROVIDE UPDATED CHART IN BOARD STAFF QUESTION 45 FOR 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

Again, staying on this topic, Maybe you could turn to page 11 of the Staff booklet.  This shows your year-over-year base OM&A spending.

Now, I am not sure exactly how you cut this, but to get to the 131 million, am I right that all of the savings you made, the actual year-over-year savings, were between 2008 and 2010?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  The $131 million is comparing the 2010, 2011 and 2012 period back to 2008.

MR. MILLER:  I understand that.  Maybe I should rephrase the question.

Your base OM&A is only going down for 2008 to 2009, and then again to 2010; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  It goes down from 1,252 down to 1,187 in 2010.  Then --


MR. MILLER:  Then it starts to go up again; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  A slight increase in 2011, and then up in 2012 for a few reasons, one of which is an additional week's worth of costs, that fifty-third week you see in our evidence.

MR. MILLER:  You are still counting savings for those years, 2011 and 2012, even though your actual spending is going up from the year previous; is that right?  And the savings you are counting are the delta between 2011 and 2008 and 2012 and 2008?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  The rationale for the $260 million in that chart in comparison is to show the trend line from 2008 down to -- over a five-year period to 2012.

MR. MILLER:  Right.  But you agree with me your actual base OM&A costs are going up from 2010 to 2011, and then again from 2011 to 2012?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So I guess the decreases in costs -- I understand how you carried over the savings, but the decreases in costs stopped in 2010?

MR. MAUTI:  Um....

MR. MILLAR:  Overall?

MR. MAUTI:  Total dollar basis, remember that there is escalation that happens between the years for the labour component of our costs, which is a rather large component.

MR. MILLER:  Okay, fair enough.  2008 and 2009 were the previous two test years for your last payments case; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  And we have your actuals here, but the chart does not show what Board approved was.  Am I right that you underspent in those years?

MR. MAUTI:  Sorry, the question is underspending in relation to the Board-approved amounts?

MR. MILLER:  To the Board approved, yes.

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  We are underspent in both of those years.

MR. MILLER:  My information is you underspent by 10.3 million in 2008 and 56.7 million in 2009; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  If I could just get a file reference for that, if you are reading from...

MR. MILLER:  I am looking at Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 2, table 1b -- tables 1a and 1b; 1a for 2008 and 1b for 2009.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MILLAR:  You can take that subject to check, if you wish, but I am happy to have you pull it up.

MR. MAUTI:  I have a table 1a, 1b and 1c here.

MR. MILLER:  If you look at the total nuclear, the change, (e) minus (g), and that is -- so it is the actual versus the -- it is the budget, so maybe I should confirm the budget was the Board approved.  I may be wrong on that.

MR. PASQUET:  Can we make sure we are on the right table?  So you are on Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 2, table 1a?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  Okay.  I think we just have the wrong reference here, so just give us a second.

MR. MILLER:  My apologies.  I am looking at the "Total Nuclear" line along the bottom.  I have a delta from actual to budget of minus 10.3 million; do you see that?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Millar.  I don't think the budget is referenced to Board-approved numbers, because the Board-approved numbers for OM&A are in the total and didn't break them down by categories.  So what that reflects I believe is OPG's budget.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So that is not Board-approved?

MR. KEIZER:  It is not Board approved, because there was no way to break it down, because the Board itself did not break it down in this way.

MR. MILLER:  I see, okay.  Would those budgets have formed the basis of the application?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe that is the budget numbers here are the basis of the application from OPG, not necessarily the Board-approved amounts at the end.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood, because the Board didn't approve a specific amount under that line item.  I guess at least for the purposes of this discussion, I will -- I won't treat that as approved.  I will treat that as budget; that's fair enough.

Then, again, if you flip to the next page, you will see 56.7 million for 2009?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  So I understand that is not exactly what Board approved was, but the savings you realized, what happened to that money?

MR. MAUTI:  What happened to the money?

MR. MILLER:  Was it reallocated, or was that money OPG pocketed?

MR. MAUTI:  There is a description of that variance, if you are looking at the 56.7 million in 2009, in F2-2-2 on page 4.  Starting on line 12, we have an analysis of the $56.7 million and the drivers of where those costs came from.

MR. MILLER:  Yes, but that doesn't say -- I guess you -- over two years, you collected -- I know this isn't quite right, because it is budget versus approved, but your budget was $67 million more than you actually spent.  And I guess I am assuming that OPG pocketed the $67 million, but perhaps it was allocated to other O&M or -- I don't know.  Do you happen to know what happened to that money?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

I think I am going to move on to another area.  Again, in the technical conference, question number 41, we asked about a number of things.  It's kind of a lengthy question with a lengthy response.  Again, this starts at page 6 of Staff's booklet, but I am asking on another area.

We asked you about the calculation of your employee reductions or your FTE reductions over the test period, and your answer to that comes at page 9 of the Staff booklet.

And to be -- to lay the background just a little bit more, what Staff was asking you about was the fact that you made a change from counting -- from your counting of employees from head count and you switched to FTEs for 2010; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  The basis of our description of employees is that for future periods, for planned and forecast periods, we use an FTE, because that is how our dollars in the application are calculated.

What we do is, when we report actual employees at a period of time, we use the physical head count of employees that exist at the end of the year.  So that's been our standard practice, that actuals are based on head counts, and going forward are based on full-time equivalents or FTEs.

MR. MILLER:  I'm sorry, so do you still calculate head count?

MR. MAUTI:  We still have head count, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You would have head count for 2011, 20 -- or presumed?

MR. MAUTI:  We would, but again, the basis of the dollars in our application are based on am FTE calculation.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  But in order to get the reductions that you discussed -- again, just to remind you, I think we are talking about 559 FTE reductions.  That is the number I took you to before.  I understand the way you got that was subtracting FTEs from headcount; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  It looks at an FTE count at the end versus headcount.  Yes, that's what we're talking about.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, if it helps, I am -- page 14 of the Staff booklet shows a table showing the staff numbers over the years.

MR. MAUTI:  Slight correction.  You mentioned a 500 staff reduction.  It is actually 689 that we have in terms of regular employees.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  But that is -- you got that by subtracting FTEs from headcount?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  We asked you about that.  We suggested that that is not an apples-to-apples comparison.

First, would you agree with that, that headcount and FTEs don't count the same thing?

MR. MAUTI:  They're not the same number, no.

MR. MILLER:  I know they're not the same number on the chart, but they don't count the same thing?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  An FTE counts an equivalent amount of hours of an individual, whereas a headcount's the physical existence of an individual at a period of time.

MR. MILLER:  And that is my question.  How is that calculated?

You say a "period of time."  Do you do one, single headcount per year?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  It is a point in time.  We track staff throughout the year within the organization.  There are reports that happen on a regular basis, likely monthly, that look at headcount numbers.  We use the headcount at the end of a particular calendar year to provide the numbers in the evidence.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So let me put it this way to you.

Let's imagine you have a single position, it is filled by employee A on January 1st.  On July 1st, he leaves and is replaced by employee B.

I take it that –- and we're talking the same position.  So for FTEs, that would equal one; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  How many would that count for as headcount?

MR. MAUTI:  That replaced -- if the second individual is there at the end of the year, it would still count as one.

MR. MILLER:  So you -- when do you do the count?

MR. MAUTI:  We do it every month, so you know the actual number of employees that you have at any particular time.

MR. MILLER:  So if an employee only works six months of the year, what does that count on for an FTE?

MR. MAUTI:  At the end of the year?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.

MR. MAUTI:  They work the second half of the year or the first half of the year, that's why we're talking about a particular point in time to identify the headcount.

MR. MILLER:  I'm talking about FTEs.  I assume if someone works the first six months --


MR. MAUTI:  It's a half of an FTE, yes.

MR. MILLER:  If they were working at the points of time you measured, that person would count as one under the headcount; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  Is it also true that your headcount would always be at least equal to, or in most cases greater than your FTEs?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  Actually, if you have a situation where you have declining staff, which is -- I believe our expectation is our headcount is reduced, over the period of time, I think the inverse of that is true.

MR. MILLER:  And why is that?

MR. MAUTI:  Because as individuals leave the organization, they're not there at the end of the year in terms of headcount.  Yet they contributed a portion of the FTE during the year.

MR. MILLER:  And the point of time that you do the headcount calculation, is that December 31st?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  It is an end-of-year headcount calculation.

MR. MILLER:  I see.  You told me that you continue to record the headcount numbers?

MR. MAUTI:  We track the head count numbers, yes.

MR. MILLER:  I'm sorry, track them, yes.

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Why would you do -- why wouldn't we just do a headcount-to-headcount comparison for the -- in terms of calculating the employees?

MR. MAUTI:  Is what you're asking why don't we use headcount on a forward-looking basis?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  You have given us the number of 689, and whether the numbers are higher or lower, you have agreed with me that headcount numbers and FTE numbers are not the same.  They will be different somewhat?  One might be higher, one might be lower over a single year.

So what you've got is an apples-to-oranges comparison on employee numbers.  So why can't -- or I shouldn't say "why can't" -- can you do a calculation on headcount versus headcount, or FTE versus FTE?

MR. MAUTI:  The question posed was, I believe, an FTE comparison backwards.  I think we tried to explain that going backwards and recalculating FTEs would involve having to do a lot of assumptions, in terms of the hours of work of individuals to be able to sort of backward re-engineer and calculate an FTE number.

So because we use FTEs going forward, again, because that is the basis of the dollars that we calculate for labour as part of the filing, it is based on an FTE count, not a headcount, we use FTEs going forward

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Maybe the problem was how we posed the question.

Could I ask you, as an undertaking, to give us this same chart on table 13, but using headcount all the way across?

MR. MAUTI:  Table 13?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  This is at page 14 of the Staff booklet, Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 1, and it is table 13.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, can I ask a further clarification on that?

I assumed that in your headcount that two regular part-time employees would count as two.  Say you had two people each working half-time, but all year half-time, that that would count as two in a headcount, but count as one as an FTE?

MR. MAUTI:  If they were part-time employees, they would likely be a non-regular staff as opposed to a regular staff.

MS. SPOEL:  All of your regular staff are full-time?

MR. MAUTI:  We have some employees, I believe, that are on sort of a job-sharing kind of arrangements and things like that.

I would have to find out whether we do anything with the headcount to account for things like that.

MS. SPOEL:  Is it a significant number?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't want to speculate.  I wouldn't know.

MS. SPOEL:  Perhaps you could let us know that, whether you -- whether job-shares count as job-shares or other permanent employees, regular permanent employees who were other than full-time, how you deal with them as headcount.

What happens if you have a maternity leave or parental leave or some other long-term absence?  Do you deal with those people as headcount or as -- do you count them at the end of the year if they are still on the list, but they are actually on some kind of a leave?  Or are they not counted, but they portion of the year they worked counted as FTEs?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe there are different rules, depending on whether it is a maternity leave versus a disability issue or things like that.

But I wouldn't know exactly what the rules are in terms of the calculation for the report that we get from our HR group in terms of headcount.

MS. SPOEL:  Is there another panel that would be better-suited to --


MR. MAUTI:  I believe panel 7, if I have that correctly, the corporate cost and allocation panel, I believe, would be able to --


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  That is the panel.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will leave it for them, then.  Or I will leave my part of the question for them.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to follow up, are you able to provide the undertaking to give us the headcount numbers all the way across for table 13?

MR. MAUTI:  That would be F2, 2, 1, table 13, headcount for the years 2010, '11 and '12?

MR. MILLER:  Yes, just complete that.  I would appreciate if you would keep 2007 through 2009, just so we can look at it all in one place.

MR. PASQUET:  So just to clarify, that will tell you the year-end headcount number, as opposed to the level of effort that we're actually carrying out in that year.  I just want to make sure we got the right -- we are looking for the right thing.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I do understand.  I want to be able to do a apples-to-apples comparison for 2008 versus the plan years.

MR. PASQUET:  I just wanted to confirm that.

MR. MILLER:  I do understand that there is some nuances and things we'll have to consider there.

That will be Undertaking J4.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.4:  ADD HEADCOUNT NUMBERS FOR 2010, 2011 AND 2012 TO TABLE 13 OF EXHIBIT F2, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Spoel, I am not sure how we would like to deal with the additional information.  Shall we roll that into that undertaking?  Or will that be dealt with by --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, if there is a better panel –-

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.

MS. SPOEL:  -- that's better equipped to deal with it, I'm perfectly happy to have it put over.

I just think at some point if we are looking at staff reductions and the extent of it, it would be useful to know how you count people.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  In general terms.

MR. MILLAR:  Sticking with this chart, again, we notice that the big drop-off starts between 2009 and 2010 and again, perhaps coincidentally, that is when the method of counting changes from headcount to FTEs.

But I take it from what you have explained to me before, that it is a coincidence that those two things coincide?

I guess we will see when we get the undertaking back, if that makes any impact or not.  So I will wait for the undertaking.

MR. MAUTI:  It could make the delta bigger or smaller.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I guess we'll see.

But again, on that same point, can you confirm for me that your -- whether we count them as headcount or FTEs -- your peak is 2008; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Very close to each other, but it does peak in 2008, yes.

MR. MILLER:  Indeed, 2007 is actually a little bit lower?

MR. MAUTI:  Marginally lower.  And marginally lower in 2009, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  And, indeed, if you flip to the next page of the booklet, page 15, this is a chart we have produced which is taken directly from the application.  In fact, it is -- the numbers are taken right from page 11, table 1.

So subject to confirming that those are the correct numbers - and I think you will find they are - can you also confirm for me that the nuclear base OM&A itself peaked in 2008?

MR. MAUTI:  I guess going back to the table that was drawn from, from the evidence, F2-2-1, table 1, total base OM&A does peak in 2008.

MR. MILLER:  So the comparator year you have chosen for calculating both your savings and staff reductions is in fact the peak, at least in the years that we have on this table, for both of those figures?

MR. MAUTI:  It is the highest year, and it was, as mentioned, our first year of regulation.

MR. MILLER:  2008 was, yes.

MR. MAUTI:  2008.

MR. MILLER:  Indeed, from 2007 - again, we are looking at page 15 now - your base OM&A expenditures are actually higher in 2012, or are projected to be higher in 2012 than they would have been in 2007?

MR. MAUTI:  That's marginally higher after several years of labour escalation, yes.

MR. MILLER:  And is it also true that 2010 is your low watermark for base OM&A spending?

MR. MAUTI:  As per our table, yes.

MR. MILLER:  And you can confirm for me that is the year that OPG was not in to have its payment amount set?

MR. MAUTI:  There wasn't a rate application for the year 2010 specifically, no.

MR. MILLER:  Right.  So you would have been -- you would have maintained the 2009 payment amounts for 2010?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  Thank you.  Now, again, looking at the difference between 2007 and 2008, we see about a $50 million jump between those two years.  Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I have provided for you, starting at page 16, an interrogatory from the School Energy Coalition from the last payment amount case.  That starts at page 16 of our booklet.

And Mr. Shepherd -- well, whoever was representing Schools, I assume it was Mr. Shepherd -- asked you then why you spent less than you budgeted in 2007.  Do you see that in the question at the top?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLER:  And then if I take you down to the response, the very first bullet point says:
"Operation spending was 18.7 million under budget across the three sites mainly due to staff vacancies not being filled."

Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you flip down to the next bullet point:
"Station engineering spending was 5.8 million under budget across the three sites mainly due to staff vacancies not filled."

Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  We do.

MR. MILLAR:  And then the final bullet, starting at line 39:
"In total the spending for all support groups was 12.8 million under budget mainly due to unfilled staff vacancies."

Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If I could ask you to flip to page 17, page 2 of the interrogatory, again the first bullet point:
"Across the three sites, approximately 14 million in lower than budgeted OPG labour costs in 2007 is associated with unfilled staff vacancies."

Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then the last sentence under that bullet:
"Also, approximately 1 to 2 million of initiative work at Pickering A was not completed in 2007, representing spending in 2008."

So I assume that is $1 to $2 million that was deferred from 2007 to 2008?

MR. MAUTI:  That's true.  That was -- the second part of the interrogatory, I believe, asked any spillover impact from 2007 into 2008.

MR. MILLER:  And then - sorry to take you through this in such detail - the next bullet point:
"Approximately 2 million of tritium removal facility was not completed in 2007 and that was bumped to 2008 and 2009."

Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  And then the operations functions, the next two bullet points, reference $7 million and $1 million respectively associated with staff vacancies.  Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  So it is fair to say a fair amount of -- or is it fair to say that a fair amount of work and expenses were deferred from 2007 to 2008?

You've got a lot of staff vacancies.  I didn't add up the numbers, but many millions of dollars from 2007 that I understand were filled for 2008, and then there were a couple of specific projects, I guess I could call them, that were deferred to 2008.

Do you have any cause to disagree with that?

MR. MAUTI:  Of all of the different variances you were alluding to, it is the ones on your page 17 that represent the spending that we estimated in 2008 as a result.  The first part of the interrogatory didn't deal with spillover spending.  It was just what you have on page 17.

MR. MILLER:  I see.  But those vacancies, I presume, were filled for 2008?  Indeed, if you look on 17, I think it says that.  It says --


MR. MAUTI:  On the first one, we're talking about the operations function specifically, that 14 million in labour cost.  I would suggest we can turn to F2-2-2, which gives us a look at 2008 spending, to see if we can go through that variance explanation.  That starts on F2-2-2, page 8 of 10.

MR. MILLER:  Pardon me, page 8?

MR. MAUTI:  Page 8 of 10.  And with the --


MR. MILLER:  Yes, I'm sorry.  I have it.

MR. MAUTI:  So we have -- I guess where you compare the 2008 actual to the budget, the descriptions are as listed below.  The base OM&A was within $10 million, less than 1 percent variance from our submitted 2008 budget.

MR. MILLER:  Well, I see that, but I guess my real question is - maybe I'm not being clear - it seems to me that you had a significant number of vacancies in 2007, which I have to think would understate the amount of base OM&A payments, and then you also have some deferred work, as well.

So I guess my question is:  Is 2008 really the best base year against which you should be comparing your progress?

MR. MAUTI:  The staffing and hiring in 2008 specifically for the operations function was something that was definitely a requirement in order to deal with some shortfalls we have had in that area and some of the issues we had with having to have overtime, and whatnot.  So it was a targeted area that we had, in terms of our work force development program, to ensure that we had skilled operators.

So I am not sure if that means that if you're increasing to that value, that perhaps is a more appropriate value to start from in terms of an operations function, as one example.

MR. MILLER:  Again, back on page 15, we discussed the low-water mark of 2010 for your base OM&A spending, and then it starts to ramp up again in the test year.

Did you defer any spending from 2010 to either of the test years?

MR. MAUTI:  We are in 2010 right now.

MR. MILLER:  Have you or are you about to defer spending from --


MR. MAUTI:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  What about staff vacancies?  Are there unfilled -- I am sure there is always at least some unfilled staff vacancies, but how are your staff vacancies currently as against the average?

MR. PASQUET:  We are roughly on track with our proposed budget, so I don't expect any major hiring to take place.  There is still a need to hire people to deal with attrition, and we still have -- if you look in the evidence, we have a work force development plan to deal with that and some of the demographics issues.  But, in general, there is no major ups or downs that are being projected.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  Just to be clear, you have not deferred any major spending from 2010 to the test years?

MR. PASQUET:  I am not aware of any major deferred spending from 2010 to the test years.

MR. MILLER:  Although I guess, frankly, 2010 was not one of the payment years in any event.  So we wouldn't have -- I am sure you have internal budgets, but there wouldn't have been a Board-approved plan or anything that the Board had reviewed.

But thank you.  I have your answer on that.

I am going to move to a new area.

I have some questions on nuclear fuel costs.  Just to set some of the background for this, I didn't include this reference in the booklet, so I am hoping you can take it subject to check, and I do have the reference.

But I understand that the total nuclear deficiency in the application is $133.9 million.  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. MAUTI:  In terms of overall revenue deficiency?  I'm not -- no one in this panel is necessarily equipped to talk to that.

MR. MILLER:  Fair enough.  That would be at Exhibit A1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 2, I understand, but it doesn't matter.  This is more to set the groundwork to than to confirm that.

Can you confirm for me the nuclear fuel cost escalation represented in this application is about $133 million?

MR. MAUTI:  Is this a year-over-year comparison that you are doing, or...

MR. MILLER:  Maybe I can pull up the actual reference.  I apologize for not having it in the booklet.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Millar, are you looking at A1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 4 of 4, where it sets out the nuclear deficiency?  Is that where you are looking?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  That is where the nuclear deficiency number came from.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  So I don't know if the witnesses have it, but we can pass that up to them, if you need to further question on it.

MR. MILLER:  I'm sorry, I didn't mean to get caught up here.  This was just to sort of set the framework for how much was at issue here.  I should have had that all in the booklet.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can put it on the computer screens, if it helps.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Buonaguro, we were waiting for you to make that offer.  We are already in day 4.

[Laughter]

MR. BUONAGURO:  You just have to use "presentation" and switch to PC 11.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So what do I want to put on?  Projectors, plasma?

MR. BUONAGURO:  You want to pick on the inputs and switch to PC 11.  I guess you pushed PC.

MS. CHAPLIN:  PC 11?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, it is a single-page reference and I plan to spend all of five seconds on it.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit A1, tab 3, schedule 2, and I am looking at page 2.  It would maybe appear on a chart as well.  But it says at line 18:
"Two-year revenue requirement is to increase by 133.9 million."

Skip down to line 22:

"Fuel costs increased by a net of 125.5, which consists of a higher uranium cost of $133.1 million."

That was at page 2, Mr. Buonaguro, as opposed to page 4.  Again, it is under:  "Nuclear."

I don't really have a question about that, in fact.  It is just to point out how much money is on the table here.  So why don't we move on?

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  I will ask you to turn to page 18 of the Staff booklet.

I have some questions about how you purchase your nuclear fuel and why there have been some increases in that area, so maybe that would have been a better introduction.

But page 18 has an excerpt from the technical conference, and we had asked you a question about why there were no references to spot market purchases.

And you explained that in 2009, 23 percent of your purchases were actually made on the spot market; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  And then you also mentioned that there were some spot market purchases in 2010.

Do you see that?  That is, I think, at line 25.

MR. MAUTI:  I see that there.  I do not believe we have executed any spot purchases in 2010, though.

MR. MILLER:  Oh, I see.  So there have been no spot market purchases?

MR. MAUTI:  Not as yet.

MR. MILLAR:  We are almost at the end of the year.  Can you tell me if you anticipate any?

MR. MAUTI:  I know we have a sort of strategy for procurement that looks at different options we have available for us in terms of buying and meeting our uranium needs.

Depending on whether we feel it is more appropriate to put an RFP out there for a contract, specifically for a longer term or not, is something that is evaluated regularly.

So I don't have firsthand of whether we plan on entering it in the next three months.

MR. MILLAR:  For 2009, you said 23 percent of your purchases. I was going to ask if that was 23 percent of the amount of uranium, or 23 percent of the cost.

But would you be able to give us the details on those purchases?  How many they were, and for how much?

MR. MAUTI:  I know there were two purchases, I believe, made in 2009 for a total of 400,000 pounds.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, could you say that again?

MR. MAUTI:  Two purchases for a total of 400,000 pounds.

MR. MILLAR:  So does the 23 percent refer to the pounds or the dollars involved?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe it is on physical quantity.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  Are you able to tell us the dollar amount?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't have that firsthand.  And there may be some confidentiality or sensitivity around that, as well.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So is the problem that -- I guess first, you don't have it in front of you.  If I asked for it, would you be able to provide it?  Or is that a confidential...

MR. MAUTI:  It is available.  I mean, obviously, we paid for it.  We can determine whether it should be filed confidentially or not.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  I will ask for an undertaking.

If it can be provided non-confidentially, great.  If there are confidentiality issues attached, I would suggest it could be filed in confidence.

But of course, Mr. Keizer, if it has to be escalated beyond that, we could discuss that when we find out the details.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  So the undertaking would be J4.5, and that is to provide the dollar value of the two spot market purchases for 2009.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.5:  to PROVIDE DOLLAR VALUE OF THE TWO SPOT MARKET PURCHASES FOR 2009.

MR. MILLAR:  Moving ahead to page 19 of the booklet, this is Staff IR 65.

We were asking you some questions about the -- at least what we characterized as the disconnect between OPG's rising fuel costs and the declining uranium concentrate prices, and that is shown in the chart which we have on -- in IR 65, which I understand is taken directly from the application.

And it is a little bit hard to see here, but from 2007 to 2012, I understand OPG's fuel costs show an increase of 148.7 million, essentially doubled.  And I think if you need a further reference for that -- you don't have to pull it up, but it is F2, tab 5, schedule 1, tab 1.

However, over this time, there has also been a drop in the price of uranium.  So we were asking you some questions around that.

And in your response, you mention a few things, so I would like to go through some of them.

The response starts at the top of page 20.  So first you indicate that your portfolio includes, I guess, a mix of indexed and market-priced contracts.

Can you tell me what those are?  What is an indexed price contract and a market contract -- market-priced contract.

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  An index contract, when you procure uranium, would be setting a price for the uranium at the time of contract negotiation, and then that price generally is inflated or escalated or indexed over a period of time, so that the price that you are paying for the uranium you purchase under an index contract more or less reflects the price at the time you sign the contract, subject to escalation.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.

MR. MAUTI:  A market-based contract, conversely, while the contract is negotiated, will have more of a resemblance of the market price at a period of time in the future when the actual delivery of the uranium happens.

MR. MILLER:  So, sorry, the market price refers not to the price when you sign the contract, but when the delivery is made?

MR. MAUTI:  It would be reflective of market prices in and around the time the delivery is made.  There is different ways to calculate a market-based contract.

MR. MILLER:  Well, that is interesting.  If you could turn to page 22, we have produced a chart directly from the application, and it shows I think your portfolio of market-related versus indexed contracts.

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  I see approximately 60 percent of them are market based and about 40 percent are indexed?

MR. MAUTI:  Subject to check on the ratio, that looks about right.

MR. MILLER:  Something like that.  In addition, they're not included on this chart, but there were also a couple of spot market prices in 2009; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  Those would be at whatever the prevailing market rate was?

MR. MAUTI:  More resembling of the market rate at the time of those purchases, yes.

MR. MILLER:  So I guess I am still having a little bit of difficulty.  If you are paying market price or close to market price for quite a bit of your supply, why is it -- how is it that the contracts you entered into are keeping your prices above market?

I am not sure if I am expressing that clearly, but it seems to me most of your purchases are at market, and yet it seems there is a big gap between the market price and what you are actually paying.

MR. MAUTI:  Okay.  In the evidence in F2-5-1, starting on page 8, we describe, in a couple of pages, the process we follow for the nuclear fuel forecast and the different factors that impact the actual ultimate cost of fuel that we have in the test period.

We describe different things, the timing of the contract negotiations, the actual timing of existing contracts or fuel that's already been in our inventory cycle for a period of time.  The amount that we have for fuel cost is not just reflective of the price of uranium.  There is multi-stage process to get to the ultimate cost of fuel.

We buy the uranium concentrate.  It gets converted into uranium dioxide.  It gets converted into a fuel bundle, and through that series and steps, which takes several months, if not years, and the timing of when it is that we acquire some of the materials and some of the uranium concentrate for a period of time ahead of it being needed, there is a -- we consider that or we think of it as a time lag between the actual contracts and decisions being made, and purchases of uranium and the ultimate impact it has on the price.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  Well, I see that.  I guess I am just -- I mean, the market price is now somewhere between $40 and $60; is that right?  Well, maybe about 50.  I don't know what the current is, but it is somewhere in that range?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  It's somewhere within sort of probably the 40 to 60 range, yes.

MR. MILLER:  Maybe you have answered this, but why is it that since the majority of your purchases are either spot or at market, or close to it, that you seem to be paying a lot more than that?  Maybe I am just re-asking the same question, and I will have to accept your answer as you have given it.

MR. MAUTI:  I am not sure how you concluded we are paying more than that and where you are drawing that from.

MR. MILLER:  Your costs are going up, are they not, for nuclear fuel?

MR. MAUTI:  The ultimate cost of nuclear fuel that is used in the reactor as a result of that multi-staged process that takes often several years, and the time lag that you have between some of the decisions you make and some of the purchases, which may have been during a period of higher time -- prices during the 2007 and 2008 period, some of that uranium is still being cycled through and manufactured and put into the forecast.

MR. MILLER:  Oh, I see, because you -- essentially, what you do with nuclear fuel is it goes into rate base when you purchase it.  I guess it is a non-depreciating capital asset.

The way it comes out is it is expensed when you use the fuel; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  As part of the working capital for OPG, it includes the amount of uranium and all phases of that process up to and including the fuel bundles before they're loaded into the reactor or there is nuclear inventory.

MR. MILLER:  Right.  But you were talking about that you are still incurring some of the costs from stuff you purchased previously, because it is only now that you are extracting it -- not extracting -- that you are actually consuming it in the plant.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. MAUTI:  Some of it is timing.  Some of it is we use an average accounting process to figure out the cost of the fuel bundle.

MR. MILLER:  When you actually withdraw it and use it, you use an average cost, not the cost you purchased that particular bundle for?

MR. MAUTI:  We don't purchase the bundle.  We purchase the uranium.  It gets converted, and whatnot.  But it is an averaging process through all steps of that cycle.

MR. MILLER:  Okay, thank you for that.

In Staff IR 65, we asked you -- you currently have a fuel cost variance account; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  So, essentially, what that means is whatever you pay for -- whatever you pay for your fuel is what you will recover from ratepayers?

MR. MAUTI:  We would always have to come back in a rate hearing and explain the strategy and the steps we took to acquire and convert the fuel into a fuel bundle and use it.  So I don't think it is -- an automatic recovery is expected.

MR. MILLER:  Okay, fair enough.  It is subject to a prudency review?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You say in that response, also, that it would be improper for the Board to use hindsight when considering prudency; is that fair enough?

MR. MAUTI:  I think that would be a standard concept and construct, yes.

MR. MILLER:  That is probably true.  So I guess unless -- as long as you are getting contracts on the market, I assume that -- I shouldn't say I assume, but you will probably assume you will recover the amounts in that variance account?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe we would have to demonstrate we have a balanced and prudent way that we go about acquiring all of our fuel and a balanced strategy, as we alluded to, and we have described in the evidence what we feel is a prudent way to go about doing that.

We don't feel that it should be our job to necessarily speculate or hedge on the price of uranium, and we want to make sure we have an approach that has those risks balanced.

MR. MILLER:  What we were asking, I think, if you have any incentive to attempt to lower these costs.  We have seen they have been going up.  I have heard your explanation for that.  But doesn't the existence of the variance account at least reduce any incentive to reduce nuclear fuel costs?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't necessarily believe so, no.  We have dedicated people and a professional group.

The ability of our staff to get the best price possible -- they don't necessarily view the existence of a variance account as being their saving grace in any form or any shape, so...

MR. MILLER:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Millar, were you done with that area, not that I am planning a break?  It is just that I had a question, but --


MR. MILLAR:  I have a couple of more questions in this area, Madam Chair, but if you wish to --


MS. CHAPLIN:  No, no.  Go ahead.

MR. MILLAR:  I was just trying to find my place here.

Okay, at page 20, this is again the response to Staff IR 65.  You say that:
"The use of a portfolio approach allows OPG, which must regularly enter the uranium market for a portion of its supply needs, to mitigate the variations in extremes in market prices."


Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  The specific line reference, that would help me to find it quickly.

MR. MILLER:  Yes, it is line 5, very close to the top on page 20.

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I see it.

MR. MILLER:  I want to explore when you actually have entered the market.

Yes, if you could turn to page 26 of the Staff booklet, and this shows a summary of your existing fuel contracts; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  And you have four of them?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  And three of them were entered in the first half of 2006 -- or, pardon me, the negotiation, in any event?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  And then the second was the latter half of 2007?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  I guess to be fair, you also mentioned a couple of spot purchases you made in 2009, but I understand none since then?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  So I guess I am asking how this meshes with your statement that you need to regularly enter the uranium market, if it appears that, aside from the spot purchases, you haven't been in the market since 2007?

MR. MAUTI:  Part of the -- our strategy for nuclear fuel is a balanced approach between -- you know, we always -- as the evidence indicates, we look at quality, security of supply and cost.  As part of that security of supply concept, we have a targeted level of uranium requirements that we would need, and we state in the evidence that 100 percent of the uranium concentrate needs for the first two years have to be sort of under contract and required.

What that means -- and then sort of a bit of a sliding scale after that over a ten-year period in terms of the amount of supply.  So that as we go through some of these deliveries, if there's a period of time when we are outside of that bound, we ,for our security of supply reasons, may have to enter into the spot market to be able to secure the required amount that we would need, as per our strategy.

MR. MILLER:  I'm sorry, I heard you say you need to have two years locked up, a two-year supply?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  And then on top of that, that is when you would start -- you would arrange contracts to arrange for that, and then you would enter the spot market as necessary after that?

MR. MAUTI:  That would be one strategy, and reason to go into the spot market, yes.

MR. MILLER:  It just hasn't happened very often over the past few years?

MR. MAUTI:  In 2009, it has.  To date in 2010, it has not.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  I have one final thing on nuclear fuel costs, and this relates to working capital amounts.  And I want to make sure I understand this correctly.

I think if we turn to -- yes, if we turn to page 27 of the Board Staff booklet, this is a working capital summary.  And as we discussed before, I understand that fuel inventory goes into rate base as a form of working capital; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLER:  And if you look down to 2011 and 2012 at the bottom, you see the amounts, the rate base value is $379.8 million and then $360.9 million, respectively.

Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Sorry, the two numbers you mentioned were?  I'm sorry.

MR. MILLER:  Sorry, the "fuel inventory" lines, 18 and 22, if you carry across to the rate base value, which I take it is an average of the whole year, it is $379.8 million, and then $360.9 million?

MR. MAUTI:  Okay.  I see that.

MR. MILLER:  And your nuclear cost -- so you would agree with me that is in rate base, so obviously it is earning a cost of capital?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  To the extent that those amounts are overstated, you would be earning additional return?  Is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  I am not sure how you would define "overstated" or --


MR. MILLAR:  If you have more -- if the Board approves a larger amount for working capital than you actually need or that you actually use in the test years, you would over-earn for that amount, and I guess the converse would be true, as well?  Is that fair enough?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MILLER:  And my understanding is that for 2008 and 2009, the amount of working capital associated with fuel inventory was overstated by $14 million and $13 million respectively?

And my source for that is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 2.  Again, I apologize that that is not in the booklet.

If Mr. Buonaguro has it handy, that would be helpful, or we could pull it up.

It is Board Staff IR No. 2.  And if we could have that blown up so I can -- I see under "Nuclear" there is a "fuel inventory" line, right about the middle.

Then if you see the variance for 2008, it is $14.3 million, and then 2009 it is $13.3 million?

MR. MAUTI:  I see those two numbers.

MR. MILLER:  Again, the actual amounts are irrelevant in some sense.

My question is:  Does the variance, the nuclear cost fuel cost variance account, capture those types of difference?  In other words, does it capture the cost of capital associated with the rate base amounts from the working capital?

My understanding is it doesn't, but I wanted to put that to you.

MR. MAUTI:  I don't believe that it does, but a future panel dealing with variance and deferral accounts may be able to confirm that.

MR. MILLER:  So I will put that to them, as well.

Madam Chair, I do apologize.  I am going over my time estimate.  This is my last question on nuclear fuel.  Did you wish to ask the panel some questions on that?
Questions by the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  I just had a couple of questions.

I am looking at Exhibit F2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 12 of 12, which I believe is the larger version of the chart that is also used in the interrogatory.

So you have described how, in explaining the difference between current market prices and the fuel cost that is embedded in your application, that it seems that one of the big factors is this -- the inventory approach, because what you are using in the test period was purchased in a different physical time period.

So would it be true that over the longer term, we should see the fuel costs tracking the market prices in some sort of regular pattern?  In other words, that there is a lag?

MR. MAUTI:  I think that would be fair.  Even if you look at the peaking of spot prices, according to the graph, approximately around January 2007 to January 2008, spot prices purchases of uranium were spiking up that year; the fuel cost did not substantially increase.  It went up a little bit.

As prices started to come down, you see the lag effect of the uranium costs or the fuel cost trending up.

So there is a bit of that time-lag effect happening.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And so if uranium prices were to reverse direction and start on an upward trajectory, OPG's fuel cost would still go through a period of decline, if your overall portfolio continues in the same relative proportions?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  The proportions right now are approximately, if you look at the total fuel requirements, about 25 percent index contracts, 75 percent market.

So if you take that approach, and holding everything else constant, you would see it is sort of levelling off and declining as well, before again lagging the actual price of the uranium concentrate.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Now, the long-term-indexed approach, which is -- builds in, as I understand it, some sort of inflation or escalation factor, can you explain to me again what the value is of that component of your portfolio?

MR. MAUTI:  The proportion or the percentage or how --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Why is a contract indexed to inflation of value either to OPG or its ratepayers?

MR. MAUTI:  All right.  For example, in 2006 when -- or late 2007 where the existing contracts were renegotiated, we put proposals out there.  Some companies wanted to fix a price in at that point, which would take the existing market-related prices at that point and lock that in as a base price for all future contract deliveries.

So they would lock it in.  If you did that around the 2006-2007 period, you would probably have a relatively high price to start with, and they want to sort of fix that as a price.  And then they would just get an inflation adjustment on that, going forward.

So they more or less sort of trying to solidify their cost, the price at that point.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, I can understand the value to the supplier.  I am trying to understand the value to the ratepayer.

MR. MAUTI:  To the ratepayer?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Or within your overall portfolio.

MR. MAUTI:  Well, correct.  Now, again, with the benefit of hindsight, would we have negotiated any fixed-price contracts in 2006-2007?  Knowing what we know now, likely not.

But at the period of time we were doing the negotiation, we had seen tremendous volatility in uranium contracts.  We did not necessarily want to leave ourselves exposed to what the future of that market would be.

So we felt there was some value of locking in some indexed contracts at that point.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is it your expectation to continue to have those types of contracts in your portfolio going forward?

MR. MAUTI:  As part of the balanced strategy, we have certain financial sort of coverage ratios that we look at, a certain amount that we want to have in there as a fixed or indexed contract, again because we don't feel that it would be appropriate to be speculative 100 percent of the time, and have all our uranium purchases purely floating at that long-term spot, sort of long-term index price or sort of long-term market price.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why would you -- if you were to be all at a sort of market-index price, what is it about that that you feel would be speculative?

MR. MAUTI:  It would just be at the whim of a uranium marketplace that we have seen has had a tremendous volatility in the last two to three years.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And with these indexed contracts, have you done any analysis to determine over time which is the better approach, in terms of, can you actually -- my sense is, and maybe I am putting words into your mouth, that you feel that you will come out ahead overall using some component of indexed contracts?  Is that your view?

MR. MAUTI:  I think, in working with our risk group that we used in terms of trying to develop a strategy for our procurement, we didn't -- we felt that over the longer term, having a certain amount of that portfolio that was fixed, would help at least alleviate the sharp sort of hills and valleys, in terms of that procurement process going forward.

So we're trying to balance what we feel the risk would be in a marketplace that, as you can see, is -- for uranium which is quite volatile.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But my sense was that through your inventory process and all of the other steps involved, in terms of the total overall cost, if I am looking at the red line, I guess I am trying to understand, even if there was underlying volatility in the market price, it seems all of the other things that go on in terms of the accounting for this seem to tend to smooth it out.

MR. MAUTI:  It would also have a smoothing impact, the fact that we have a supply of the uranium concentrate we need to have on hand for a period of time, the fact we use average inventory accounting.  They both have a smoothing or normalizing impact over a period of time, as well.  That is true.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And, I'm sorry, I think I asked this, but, I'm sorry, I don't remember if you answered.

Have you done an analysis to determine how different your costs would be if you had, instead of having some index component, only used market-based or spot purchases?  In other words, how much of an effect would that have had on your total fuel cost over time and its relationship to the market price?  Do you do that sort of analysis?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't know of any that has been done, but what you are trying to suggest is:  If you had all market based, did you win or lose in the end by having to go through some through the index?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, that kind of thing.

MR. MAUTI:  I don't know of any personally that have been done.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  That's all I have now.  Sorry, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Chaplin.  I only have one area left, and I think will actually move a little bit more quickly than my previous areas.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


My final questions are on the Pickering B continued operations project.  You might want to turn to about page 35, I would suggest, of the Staff booklet.  There are a few pages I will refer to, but that is probably as good a place as any to start.

First of all, just to set the groundwork here, the Pickering B continued operations project, Mr. Stephenson spoke about it with you earlier today, but essentially what it is meant to do is to allow the Pickering B units to run for an extra four years.  Is that what the project is for?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  Following our current plan, we would have -- start to bring units out of service in around 2014, ultimately ending up at 2016.

This initiative basically extends two units out by four years to around the 2018 time frame, and then ultimately the last two units to the 2020 time frame.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  The costs for this project, at least during the test years, are shown on page 35 of the Staff booklet.  You will see there is the Pickering B continued operations initiative, and, if you look to the subtotal, you see for 2011 50.6 million, and 42.3 million for 2012.  Is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. MILLER:  And these expenditures are being incurred to both prepare the project, prepare the extension of the life of the reactors, and also, in fact, to confirm that this can be done; is that fair enough?

MR. PASQUET:  There is really a couple of elements.  The first element is to actually do the -- do some of the research to ultimately find out the life left in the pressure tubes.

Secondly, we are actually doing some actual work in the field to gather data that will support that research, and the next area is really around doing some work that will ensure the asset can actually achieve the additional four years.

So, really, it is a combination of research, plus there is some analysis, plus actually doing actual field work.

MR. MILLER:  That is tied up with what we see here as the fuel channel life cycle management project; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  So the actual project which has been charged with determining the ultimate life left in the fuel channels is that particular project; that is correct.

MR. MILLER:  And the aim of that project -- we see the expenditures of $7.7 and $4 million during the test years.  That is essentially -- the hope there is that you can prove that the pressure tubes can actually be operated for another four years; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  It is to demonstrate that the pressure tubes can actually go to 240,000 effective full power hours.

MR. MILLER:  I will throw a term at you that I don't quite understand, but you probably do.  I understand in order to proceed, you will need what is defined as a high level of confidence?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  That is what we have been -- that project has been charged with, to provide a high level of confidence that, in fact, we can actually achieve the 240,000 full power hours or the extra four years.

MR. MILLER:  Again, Mr. Stephenson discussed this with you.  240,000 hours is the extension that gives you four years?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  And so I take it that currently you don't have a high level of confidence that this is possible or you wouldn't be doing this fuel channel life cycle management project; is that fair?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  As stated in the evidence, we currently have a medium level of confidence.

MR. MILLER:  You currently have medium.  I understand you are not expecting the results from this project until the end of 2012; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  There will be -- there will be a continuum of work that is ongoing as of today, but the result that we are looking for is, by the end of 2012, to be able to state we have a high confidence in achieving the 240,000 full power hours.

MR. MILLER:  If you look back to the Pickering B project itself, isn't it true that by the end of 2012 you will have already spent 92 -- in fact, more than 92 million; if you add up everything under that line, over $100 million in costs?

MR. PASQUET:  If you add the 4.8, the 13.5, the 50.6, the 42.3, that's correct, it comes out to a little over 100 million; that's correct.

MR. MILLER:  And I will assume it is possible that the results from the fuel channel life cycle management project could come back negative; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  Our judgment, today, is that it will not come back negative.

MR. MILLER:  But you wouldn't be doing the project if you were certain?

MR. PASQUET:  That is 100 percent correct.

MR. MILLER:  Are you putting the cart before the horse here?  Why wouldn't you do this fuel channel life cycle management project before you started the work on the continued operations?

MR. PASQUET:  So I will direct you to an interrogatory which basically talks to the fact that the need to do the work to enable the -- to -- excuse me.  To allow you to enable the project to go forward, it basically keeps the option alive.  Without spending that level of investment, in fact you take away that option, because part of the -- part of the work, we are actually going to be gathering data from our pressure tubes that will allow the fuel channel life cycle project to actually go forward and establish a successful result.

MR. MILLER:  What you are saying is if you waited for the fuel channel life cycle management project to finish, irrespective of the results, it would be too late to start the continued operations project?

MR. PASQUET:  Well, in fact, some of the data that we have to obtain will be actually an input to that project.

MR. MILLER:  So you couldn't do it otherwise?

MR. PASQUET:  So right now, today, we are doing some inspections and pressure tube maintenance, some activities which will then feed into the fuel channel management project, which then allows us to get the results that we're looking for.

MR. MILLER:  So you couldn't do it sequentially?  You couldn't do one before the other?

MR. PASQUET:  You have to gather the data in order to do the project.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So you can't do the fuel channel life cycle management project without having at least started the continued operations project?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  So if I could reference you to Board interrogatory L1-72?  And it basically addresses specifically your question, which is:  Why can't you wait till post 2012 to do the bulk of the continued ops project?

In that interrogatory, it talks to the rationale, reasons why we are doing what we are doing.

MR. MILLER:  And let's assume, for the purpose of this question, that the results come back negative and you have spent the 100-some-odd million on continued operations.  I assume that money would essentially have been wasted; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  So there is a spectrum of results which may come from that project.  It may come out that you won't get 240,000 full power hours.  You may get a number slightly less than that.  You may get a spectrum of results.

But, in essence, if we -- if the project came to say that you don't get any added life over currently what is stated today, then that money would be lost; that is correct.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  You have requested a variance account with regard to this project, but I take it -- and if this is for another panel, I will put it to them, but I will try with you first.  Obviously if it is a variance account, it captures variances.  I assume that the $92 million you are proposing goes directly into the revenue requirement for the test years?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So there would be no opportunity for the Board to make a finding of imprudence after the fact, at least for that $92 million?

MR. PASQUET:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. MILLER:  It may be something for the variance account panel.  What I'm saying is the $92 million you are requesting would go into the revenue requirement now.  The variance account only captures differences from that.  So I am assuming it wouldn't be open to the Board to make a finding of imprudence if it later turned out that all of this money was spent?

Mr. Keizer is probably going to tell me to ask somebody else.

MR. KEIZER:  I think it would probably be best to pass on to the variance account.

MR. MILLAR:  You know what I am going to ask, so you can be ready.

MR. KEIZER:  Duly noted.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Just a couple of more questions.

I would like to talk about your costing estimates for this project.  We have already discussed there is a total of $92.9 million for the test years; is that correct? 

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  But the total costs of the project are something in excess of that.  I understand that at least for the purposes of this application, you are estimating a total cost of 190.2 million; is that correct?

You could flip to page 30 of the Staff booklet.  It is an excerpt from Staff IR 67.  Or indeed, it is in the business case summary.

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  My understanding is the total cost of the project is about $190 million?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  I believe the business case is 195, but approximately 190.

MR. MILLER:  So in that range, anyway? 

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  So what we were after in Board Staff 67 is it seems you have had quite a range of cost estimates for this project, and if I could -- if you could look at page 30, at line 14, it states that your initial news release on this indicated a number of about $300 million.  That was on February 16th, 2010. 

And then the application itself, as we just discussed, it is somewhere around $190 million. 

I understand there was an estimate provided to the OPA of around $184 million.  That is at line 21 of the IR. 

And then at line 25, you will see a report issued after the application filed, again showing the cost estimate of around $300 million.

Do you see that? 

MR. PASQUET:  In your actual Board interrogatory, there --


MR. MILLER:  Yes.  I put the question to you again, essentially.

MR. PASQUET:  I see the question in the interrogatory.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  Then we put that to you both in that interrogatory, and if you flip ahead to page 32, we asked about it again in the technical conference. 

But let me ask you now.  We have a variety of estimates, I guess two chief ones, something around $190 million and then something around $300 million, and they seem to keep popping up sequentially.

Can you give me a better idea of why we have such a variety of cost estimates here?

MR. PASQUET:  So I will talk to the -- the 190 million is basically the -- represents the 184 in 2010 dollars, and that was talked to in the interrogatory, and there was an understanding associated with that.

As I talked about in the technical conference, the number in this estimate and in our rate application -- so in our business case -- we are estimating $190 million for the cost of this particular project.

And the number that you quoted is around 90 million for this rate application.  That is what is in our rate application and that is what our estimate is.

The 300 million was a very conservative estimate.  It basically looks at the outer bounds of possibility associated with the project, and round up to 300 million.  It is not what is in our rate application.  It is not what is the case of the estimate.  It was basically a conservative estimate.

What we are asking for and what we are proposing in this application is, in fact, the 190 million, and specifically approximately 90 million in this -- in the test period.

MR. MILLER:  Plus a variance account? 

MR. PASQUET:  Plus a variance account.

MR. MILLER:  You say you rounded up to get to 300 million.  What do you mean by that?  That is in the technical conference, as well. 

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.  So -- and so in any -- in a cost estimate that is budget-quality, there is a range.  If you took the upper range of that, of the estimate, and you added the 30 percent to it and basically then rounded up, you would get to a number like 300.

Our current expectation is that we will be 190 million for the cost of this project.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  But did you say that to get to this conservative bound, you increase that by 30 percent and then round it up?

MR. PASQUET:  That is how you would get to 300 million.

That is not what is in our rate application.  What is in our rate application is 190.

MR. MILLER:  Well, if you round up by 30 percent, you are closer to 250, aren't you?

Mr. PASQUET:  250, and then you round it up, you get to 300.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So you round it up $50 million?  That's a 6th or so.  Okay.  Well, I guess that is what you have done, so I will take your word on that.

I understand that the 190 -- the $190 million estimate does not include any contingency; is that correct? 

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. MILLER:  Why is that?

MR. PASQUET:  Since we are expensing this, we have looked at the costs of the work, except for the actual -- the fuel channel project, the work that we've done is work that we have done before.

We have done water lancing.  We have done a number of the other pieces of work.  And so we feel confident around the -- around the cost estimate. 

And so as such, we have not built in a contingency into the project.

MR. MILLER:  It is not unusual to have a contingency for OM&A work though, isn't it?  Even for projects much smaller than this?

MR. PASQUET:  A lot of projects do have contingency.  In this one, we basically stated the costs as we believed they were going to be expensed.

MR. MILLER:  And of course, if there is any contingency amount, that would be covered in the variance account; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  But there is in no contingency built into the business case summary.

MR. MILLER:  The 300 million estimate, could I count that rounding up as a contingency?  Or is the 30 percent the contingency? 

MR. PASQUET:  The 30 percent.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So I take it you have set the record straight for me on why we shouldn't look at this 300 million, and that 190 million is, in fact, the number. 

In fact, you are confident enough on that number that you haven't put in a contingency; that's correct? 

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. MILLER:  So why do you need a variance account? 

MR. KEIZER:  I think that would -- again, another question that would probably be best related to the variance account panel to deal with.

Because I think it is a regulatory issue, based upon what the regulation says, as well, so the variance account panel, I think, also is dealing with regulatory treatment, as well.

MR. MILLER:  I am happy to do that.  But I don't want to be told by that panel that these questions should be directed to this panel.

My question relates to how certain this panel is with its estimates.  I think I have my answers on that and I will follow up with the next panel, if necessary, but I do want it noted that I have put these questions to this panel and given them the opportunity to respond.

MR. KEIZER:  Understood.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  My understanding is that a variance account like this would be fairly unusual.  But again, I will put that to the next -- to the next panel. 

Okay.  If you could turn to page 36 -- and you might keep a finger on page 35, as well -- the total costs, of course, for the test years are set out on page 35, that chart 2 we were discussing.

However, if you move to page 36, there is a table 1:  "Project OM&A summary for nuclear."  If you look down to line 11, you see a line item:  "PB" -- which I assume are Pickering B –- "continued operations projects."

You skim across.  You see $20 million for 2011 and $17 million for 2012.

What is that? 

MR. MAUTI:  The continued operations program is broken out into the various components of OM&A that we track.  We have the project OM&A in the -- in our filing would include the cost related to continued operations that is deemed to be project-related OM&A.

MR. MILLER:  So these are not incremental costs?

MR. MAUTI:  It is the same costs that you see back on chart 2, labelled:  "Project OM&A."  This is the table and the part of the reference or the part of the filing where you see the project OM&A coming in.

MR. MILLER:  You are quite right.  I'm sorry.  Thank you for that clarification. 

If you could skip to page 37, in a similar vein, you have a listing of projects under $5 million.  That is your table 3 at F2, tab 3, schedule 3.

Do you see that?  Again, it is page 37 of the Staff booklet.

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, we see that.

MR. MILLER:  We see a line item for:  "Pickering B nuclear generating station."  Do you see that? 

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  With 15 projects, and something like $22.4 million.  Do you see that? 

First, can you confirm for me or tell me if any of these projects are related to the Pickering B continued operations project?

MR. PASQUET:  I don't have the breakout for this particular table, not in front of us.  You know, the projects listed at a high level are in chart number 2 with the project amounts.

I don't specifically know what is in table 3.  That really ought to be asked of the project panel, so -- because I am not 100 percent sure what is the makeup of the table 3.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  You wouldn't -- my question was going to be:  To the extent that these do relate to the continued operations project, whether or not they're incremental to the amounts we saw on the table on page 35, I take it you don't know that offhand?

MR. PASQUET:  Sorry, could you repeat the question again, please?

MR. MILLER:  It is not clear to me if the -- on page 37, if any of those smaller projects are related to continuing operations.  I think you have pointed me to another panel for that.

But my follow-up question was going to be:  To the extent any of these projects do relate to the continued operations project, I wanted to know if those were incremental to the amount, to the $90 million?

MR. PASQUET:  So as a matter of principle, we have segregated the projects that are to support Pickering B current operation from continued operations, as principle, we have separated that.

So if you refer back to the one chart that you referenced for the project OM&A, we have separated that.

The exhibit would be F2, tab 3, schedule 1, table 1, and that shows project OM&A, and that has been broken out by facility, and then broken out for continued operations

So, notionally, the way we have handled the project OM&A is to separate it from Pickering B, and I wouldn't want to care to speculate whether the same has been done here, but that is notionally the way we have done it.

MR. MILLER:  Okay, thank you.

Again, back to page 35, the fuel channel life cycle management project, a total of $11.7 million for the two test years, do you see that?  That is just adding 7.7 and 4?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes.  I found your reference.

MR. MILLER:  Okay, sorry.  If you could flip to page 38, this is the business case summary for the Pickering B continued operations project.

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, I have that page.

MR. MILLER:  If you look down, just more than half way down the page, you will see a line item "Fuel Channel Life Management Projects".

MR. PASQUET:  I found the line.

MR. MILLER:  And it is showing 4.9 million in 2011 and 3.9 million in 2012?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.  I found that.

MR. MILLER:  So are these costs -- I guess the fuel channel project was broken out separately from Pickering B continued ops.

Here we have it showing up in the business case for Pickering B continued ops.  What should I take from this?

MR. PASQUET:  It is about a 50-50 split between Darlington and Pickering B.  So, roughly speaking, not precisely, but it is about a 50-50 split between the numbers you see on the fuel channel life management project for Darlington and for Pickering B.  So it is not to the decimal place, but it is fairly close.

MR. MILLER:  Well, back on page 35, then, are you telling me that the costs for fuel channel life cycle management project are only for Darlington?

MR. PASQUET:  No.  That project benefits both stations.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So haven't you double counted, then, because if you look at page 38 --


MR. PASQUET:  So, the line you see in -- I have to flip back and forth.  You are referring to chart 2 then, I assume?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  Chart 2, we see --


MR. PASQUET:  So that particular page just breaks out what the full project is as opposed to what is attributable to Pickering B.

MR. MILLER:  Okay, but if I could take you back to 38, you have the fuel channel life management project.  Let's take 2011, for example, $4.9 million.  That forms part of your total of $50.5 million for 2011.  Do you see that?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, I see that.

MR. MILLER:  Then if you go back to chart 2, that is almost exactly the amount you have for the test year for Pickering B continued ops.  It is $50.5 million instead of 50.

MR. PASQUET:  But if you look over the -- the project, the BCS or the business case summary for the project was separated in time from when the business case summary for the continued ops was done.  There was a slight difference in time.

But if you look in the total, the totals are attributable to half, with some change in cash flow.

MR. MILLER:  The totals are attributable to what?

MR. PASQUET:  So if you look at the total for the -- if you look in the BCS, the business case summary, for the fuel channel life management project -- and I believe you have that particular BCS.

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  It is page 47.

MR. PASQUET:  It comes out to around $25 million or so.

MR. MILLER:  Yes, just under 25.

MR. PASQUET:  Twenty-five.  If you look at the total for what is attributable to Pickering B in the continued ops business case, it is around half that.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  I may have to ruminate on that a little.  You are telling me there is no double counting here?

MR. PASQUET:  Not that I am aware of.

MR. MILLER:  Again, my final question on this.  Page 35, if we look at the $50.6 million and the $42.3 million for the Pickering B continued ops, that is the 92, or whatever it is, million dollars for the test years?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLER:  You are telling me there are no fuel channel life cycle management project costs in there?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  They're separated down into the separate line for the fuel channel life cycle management project.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  I have your answer on that.  Thank you.

Finally - and I mean it this time - let's go back to our favorite -- no, sorry.  One moment.

If you could stick with the business case summary on page 38, you will see just under "Fuel Channel Life Management" there is something called "enhanced water lancing".

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, I have that line.

MR. MILLER:  The test period amounts are 12 million, and then $7.8 million?

MR. PASQUET:  I see that.

MR. MILLER:  Now, you also have a separate OM&A project for water lancing, generally, I guess; is that correct?  I could refer you to page 47 of the Staff booklet.

MR. PASQUET:  There is a project for water lancing; that's correct.

MR. MILLER:  In fact, if you could flip to page 47, that is where I have it.  And there we see, just to cut to the chase, $25 million as the cost of that project; is that right?

MR. PASQUET:  You're just going to have to hang on a second.

MR. MILLER:  Yes, of course.

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, I see that.

MR. MILLER:  And, again, the cost there, $25 million.  Is there any double counting of that?

MR. PASQUET:  No, there isn't.  If you notice, that particular project ends in 2011 -- essentially ends in 2011.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.

MR. PASQUET:  So you are referring to the business case summary, which is really doing a lancing campaign in 2011 and 2012, and then beyond.

So, essentially, this project comes to a closure in around the 2011 time frame, and then we are picking up -- or continued ops project is picking up water lancing going forward.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  So you are just spending a lot of money on water lancing over those years?

MR. PASQUET:  Well, it is -- there was a policy change for water lancing, per se.  Given it's perceived to be more of a maintenance activity, that we will suspend the project, and then include it in the station space OM&A.

MR. MILLER:  Okay, so no double counting?

MR. PASQUET:  No double counting.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.  One final question.  This is a late-breaking question.  I think it is a follow-up to something Mr. Stephenson asked, and then I promise you I am done.

This morning you stated that to the PWU that the business case for Pickering B continued operations was submitted to the OPA.

And, in fact, we asked you about different cost estimates provided to the OPA, one of $184 million.  This was in Board Staff IR 67, which I read to you previously.  It is in the compendium.

Regardless, we asked you about that relative to the cost estimate in the business case summary, which we saw is $190.2 million.

Which business case did you provide to the OPA that gave them the figure of $184 million?

MR. PASQUET:  So --


MR. MILLER:  How did they come up with that number?

MR. PASQUET:  So as I mentioned, the difference between the 180 number and the 190 number is whether it is 2010 dollars or not.

And so we did provide -- and the two numbers are equivalent once you equate for which year, which dollars you're talking about, but the price of the project was then provided to the OPA.  And I would have to check the reference in the OPA note that they sent back to us, what reference they did.  I believe it is the 184 number they referenced.

MR. MILLER:  Do we have all of the documentation that you provided to the OPA?

MR. PASQUET:  So what we provided to the OPA was essentially the business case summary.

MR. MILLAR:  Essentially, or exactly?

MR. PASQUET:  It was the business case summary.

MR. MILLER:  And nothing more?

MR. PASQUET:  I am not aware of anything else.

MR. MILLER:  The number 184 does not appear in the business case summary; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  I appreciate that, but the difference between the 184, as I stated, and the 190 is whether you are talking 2010 dollars or not.

MR. MILLER:  Okay, thank you for that.  Madam Chair, I am very sorry I went way over my time estimate, but I am done.  Thank you very much.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  We will break now for 15 minutes and I have Mr. DeRose next up.  Thanks.

--- Recess taken at 2:49 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:10 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Vince DeRose.  I am here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  And my questions today are entirely focussed on the nuclear fuel costs issue.

I have tried to narrow my cross as much as I can to avoid overlap, although there are some questions which, although you have had some discussions on, I would like to just drill down into a couple of points a little further. 

So if I could have you turn up Exhibit F2, tab 5, schedule 1, this is your evidence on nuclear fuel costs, and if we can start at page 7 of 12. 

Do you have that evidence?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, starting at line 10, the evidence says that OPG used a mid-price forecast of $48 per pound -- this is US -- in 2010, rising to US $61 per pound in 2012, in forecasting fuel costs.

Is that, the 48 to $61, is that a spot market price? 

MR. MAUTI:  It's not necessarily a spot market price.  Price forecasts tend to use a more sort of a long-term sort of range price, as opposed to an individual spot price. 

MR. DeROSE:  So would that be -- so would that be more akin to what we could expect to see in the long-term market rate contracts?

MR. MAUTI:  If I can maybe refer you to the table above on that same page, figure 1, you see the -- sort of the thin black line is the spot price, and the secondary line, which is a little thicker, is called the long-term price there.

MR. DeROSE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MAUTI:  It tends to be the -- our price forecasts tend follow more the long-term price line, as opposed to necessarily a short-term spot price. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But this only takes us to January 2010, your uranium price indicator.

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  That is a historical trend.  I am just trying to identify that the price forecast is not necessarily a short-term spot price, which tends to be a little more volatile than sort of a longer-term sort of market-related price.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And what I am interested in is:  Is this forecast a reasonable proxy for what we could expect your long-term market price contracts to cost over the next two years?

MR. MAUTI:  That would be a good proxy for the range that we feel would exist, based on current forecasts that we get from various sources and industry sources.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then if I can have you turn one page back to page 6 of 12, and at line 15, this is where you have that uranium spot market prices peaked in June 2007 at $136 per pound, and then down below it also, you also indicate that in the first quarter of 2007, the uranium was selling at $95 per pound.

Now, when we talk about your indexed contracts that were entered into in 2007, do I understand it right that those would generally operate that you would take the price -- so for instance, let's assume that it was in the first quarter of 2010, it would be $95 per pound, locked in, subject to an escalation factor?  Is that how it would work?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  You did mention the $95 a pound.  I just want to point it out that that is the term price, which as the evidence states, is sort of the starting price for indexed contracts.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So...

MR. MAUTI:  So if a contract was entered into in the first quarter of 2007 at roughly $95 a pound, that would be the starting point for an indexed contract, generally.

MR. DeROSE:  And when you talk about escalators, is it necessarily -- I think the previous, my friends before me indicated inflation.  When you talk about an escalator, is it CPI or is it a flat percentage? 

MR. MAUTI:  It is generally the CPI, or if it is a US-sourced contract, it could be a US inflationary figure for inflation, as well.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But that would be right in the contract.  It is generally with inflation? 

MR. MAUTI:  It is a negotiated term of the contract, and the type of inflation and the specific benchmark that we use to set that inflation rate is referenced in the contract.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I can take you to page 12 of 12, this is the attachment which shows the various prices that are spiking, and then moving on. 

The Chair asked you whether there's a price lag because of your fuel and inventory.  Do you recall that --


MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  -- conversation?  Yes.

And intuitively, it makes sense to me that the price lag would exist for spot purchases and for market-rate contracts because they would track the market cost of uranium, but for the indexed contracts, there would not be a lag, would there?  Because you have locked in a price?  There is no lag?

MR. MAUTI:  The price of the uranium that you purchase would not be lagged, but the impact that would have on the red line, if it is in colour, the square box line in terms of our fuel costs, that does reflect a lag just in terms of the cycle time to get all of the steps of the process through to actually get a finished fuel bundle.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But if, for instance, you are purchasing fuel in 2011 at 2007 prices, do I understand that the lag is that you may not see it in your inventory and fuel costs until 2012 and 2013, but the point is, it is not -- it's not the cost in 2010.

It is the 2007 cost escalated that is working its way through; correct? 

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  If you have an indexed contract entered into in the 2007 time period for a series of years, then it would generally be that 2007 term price escalated on some factor.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Can I have you turn to page 1 of the evidence, 1 of 12?

I would like to just address -- you start at the bottom of the page identifying various supply objectives and strategies, and I just want to ask a couple of questions about each of these.

First of all, high quality, that the fuel quality is assured by sourcing from certain suppliers and ensuring that it meets various predetermined standards.

Can I assume that whether you are purchasing your fuel on indexed long-term contracts, market rate long-term contracts or on the spot market, you are always going to ensure that it is of that appropriate quality?

MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.  That's a non-negotiable item, in terms of --


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so on that bullet, regardless of what form of contract you decide to use to purchase the uranium, it is not -- that will not affect the quality?  So whether you do long-term, spot market, doesn't matter?  It is always going to be the highest quality?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  The quality objective is really a reflection of the actual supplier itself, not the type of contract that we sign.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, f I can have you turn the page and we will move to the second bullet:  "Security of supply."

Now, am I right that whether you choose to secure your long-term supply by entering into a market rate long-term contract, or an indexed long-term contract, will not affect the security of the supply?  Both equally provide you with that type of security?

MR. MAUTI:  On the assumption that there are available contracts and suppliers willing to enter into contracts that would allow us to ensure that security of supply. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, I did not see anywhere in your evidence that you were unable to obtain market rate long-term contracts.

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so if you were to decide that you were, on a going-forward basis, only going to purchase market-based contracts and not indexed contracts, that would not affect security of supply, assuming you can find the contracts?

MR. MAUTI:  Assuming there would be suppliers willing to sign those long-term contracts that meet the quality standard, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Okay.  And again, in the past you have not had trouble finding those contracts; correct? 

MR. MAUTI:  The current contracts that we do have, limited to the four contracts that we have, were negotiated in the 2006 and 2007 time period.  At that point, we did not have an issue with finding companies wanting to embark and enter into a market-based contract.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you have no information that that has changed as of today?

MR. MAUTI:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, fair enough.  Then if I can take you to the third bullet, "Cost", it reads:
"OPG seeks to obtain supply at the lowest cost consistent with the above objectives."


Now, and I recognize that this is with the benefit of hindsight, but with the benefit of hindsight, will you agree with me that the indexed contracts entered into in 2006 and 2007 result in you paying more for uranium for those contracts than had you entered either market-based long-term contracts, or purchased on the spot market?

MR. MAUTI:  Up to and including this point in time, that is correct.  Some of our contracts are longer term, and if the price of uranium starts to increase or reverses in trends and does spike up, the fact that we have those indexed contracts would provide protection, but, again, that is looking into the future.

MR. DeROSE:  Absolutely.  But to date -- I recognize that we're -- hindsight is 20-20.

Now, just to make sure I understand, for you to be -- we will use the phrase "in the money", for you to actually benefit from a cost perspective on an indexed contract, the cost of uranium would have to increase faster than inflation; isn't that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Faster than the underlying basis with which the indexed contract inflates, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  So if on day 1 you enter into a contract for $100 a pound and it is for nine years, if uranium does not increase -- the cost of uranium does not increase faster than inflation, then you are going to be paying more for that uranium.  That is how the contracts work?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

Now, if I can -- I am going to come back to this evidence in a moment, but if I could take you to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 65?  It is also in Board Staff's Exhibit K4.2, if that is easier, page 19.  But it is Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 65.

Do you have it?

MR. MAUTI:  We have it.

MR. DeROSE:  You have that.  If I could take you to page 2, the second full paragraph?

MR. MAUTI:  The one starting "index price" or "the use of"?

MR. DeROSE: "The use of".  It is actually the second sentence that I want to ask you about:
"The resulting average portfolio price will be more stable than relying on market prices alone and this provides a benefit to ratepayers."


Can you explain to me what the benefit to ratepayers is, in that context?

MR. MAUTI:  OPG believes that a diversified portfolio approach that has a mix of both indexed and market-related contracts in the longer term we feel would have a benefit, in that it would normalize out and smooth out any peaks or valleys in terms of prices or price volatility.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, I guess that's what surprised me this morning, and I may have written this down wrong.  And if I have, then I apologize, but I thought you said to Mr. Millar that -- and I am quoting here, but this is my handwriting, that it is not OPG's job to speculate or hedge on the price of uranium.

Isn't that what you are doing when you are trying to avoid price volatility?

MR. MAUTI:  I guess I shouldn't have used the word "hedge".  I think the issue is we don't believe that especially with the market conditions for uranium, as we have seen them since about 2003, especially the large upswing at that time, that when we made the decision and got into the contracts that we did and have that balanced approach, that we feel that would be a protection.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But, in any event, if I understand what you mean by the phrase "The resulting average portfolio price will be more stable than relying on market prices", that what you are trying to achieve is avoidance of price volatility?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  That's the goal?

MR. MAUTI:  Avoidance or minimization or management of the risk of price volatility.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So really it is a form of risk mitigation?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And did you -- I tried to find this, and I was unable to find any previous Board approval or request by OPG for approval to undertake a risk mitigation strategy.

So rather than purchasing fuel at market price and flowing it through to customers in the variance account, as I understand it, you have decided to enter into these indexed contracts that, for a price, will minimize volatility.

Are you aware of ever seeking Board approval?  Perhaps this is a question to your counsel or...

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it is probably more addressed either I think to the regulatory treatment panel, which is coming up, and the deferral and variance account panel.  It is probably better addressed there.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I guess just to be clear, really the question I have is:  Have you ever sought approval of a risk mitigation strategy, and, if so, was it approved?  But I can ask that to your regulatory panel.

MR. MAUTI:  I do know that the strategy - and that's the balanced strategy that we have - was similar to the strategy in our first rate application.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then if I can take you down -- I am still on Exhibit -- IR 65, sub (b), second full paragraph in sub (b) that starts:
"OPG notes that the current nuclear fuel procurement strategy was in effect long before the variance account. While OPG reviews the portfolio mix from time to time ... OPG believes its strategy to be appropriate and has no plans to make fundamental changes."


Can you describe to me what the review process is of your portfolio mix?  And by that, I mean how often do you do it, who does it, and what does it entail?

MR. MAUTI:  We have a nuclear fuels procurement group within our nuclear supply chain organization staffed with individuals that have likely decades of experience in dealing in the uranium markets, and whatnot.

They do work with our risk team within OPG to look at different strategies we would have and different coverages.  As I had indicated previously, we want to have a certain amount of physical coverage of our uranium that we purchase on sort of a sliding scale over the long term.  And we also try to assess the risk volatility of having certain pricing contracts, that -- again, over a period of time, that varies.

So it is a combination of our risk group and our fuels procurement group do the analysis.  We update it, I believe, on an annual basis, provide status to our senior management and ask for sort of a continuation of that approach and strategy going forward.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Is this a written analysis?

MR. MAUTI:  I have seen sort of presentations of it to our senior management.  Often times it could be discussions between our risk officer or financial officers, or whatnot.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Does it set out, in any level of detail, the considerations that go into the decision on whether to proceed with indexed contracts or market-rate contracts?

MR. MAUTI:  I think it reviews the coverage bands that we have, as we call them, in terms of physical and financial coverage, to assess whether we feel those are still reasonable to be used.  And I think we use that as a guidance to our fuels group, who then have to understand the marketplace and see what the potential could be for either negotiating new or long-term contracts, potentially entering into a spot purchase decision, and they balance those factors, as well, within those ranges.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, did I understand you right, in a question that the Chair posed to you this afternoon, that no one at OPG tracks the difference between the market price of uranium and the indexed cost of uranium under your existing contracts at the time that you purchase them, that you don't track, in a sense, whether you are below or above, whether you're saving money or costing ratepayers additional money because of the indexed contracts?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe what I said is I had no knowledge if that analysis had been done at OPG.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  How would your risk analysis team, that assesses the appropriateness of this portfolio, undertake their analysis without that level of information?  That seems, to me, to be -- you know, whether historically it has costed us more or we've saved money, whether there has been gains or losses.  How do they do it without that information?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe they would have access to that information, as well as they would have access to trying to understand the marketplace for uranium at any period of time, trends over time.  I am sure they take several factors into account.

MR. DeROSE:  So they may have undertaken that analysis?

MR. MAUTI:  Like I said, I don't know whether they have or haven't.  I don't have any knowledge of it.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Could I ask for an undertaking that you inquire whether a study has been undertaken, tracking the cost of indexed contracts versus the cost, the market price of uranium?  And if so, produce it, subject to confidentiality?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.  We can give that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.6:  to INQUIRE WHETHER A STUDY HAS BEEN UNDERTAKEN, TRACKING THE COST OF INDEXED CONTRACTS VERSUS MARKET PRICE OF URANIUM.  AND IF SO, PRODUCE IT, SUBJECT TO CONFIDENTIALITY; and to add to that chart, for the years 2008, 2009 and '10, a comparison of what was actually paid under indexed contracts, and what it would be had you been able to buy on the market.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, if I can just take you back to your evidence, and if I can take you to page 6 of 12, and chart 2, first of all, I want to make sure I understand what chart 2 is showing.

And we will start with 2011.  Under the line "indexed" it shows 262, and I take it that is 262,000 kilograms of uranium? 

MR. MAUTI:  Correct. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it that 262,000 kilograms of uranium is what you are contractually obligated to purchase under your portfolio of indexed long-term contracts in 2011?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then the same thing for 2012, at 141,000.

And I have that... well, I can do the math.  That's fine.

Now, just a question, and I apologize if this seems like a simple question, but if I wanted to convert kilograms uranium to pounds, since we have been dealing with prices in pounds, is it like everything else metric?  I multiply it by 2.2?  Or am I going to be off-side because uranium has some sort of metric half-life that I don't know about?

[Laughter]

MR. MAUTI:  I can -- I would have to, subject to check with our fuels group, I believe they provided a 2.6 multiplication factor, so there may be something to that, but...

[Laughter]

MR. MAUTI:  I can check at the next break and confirm with you.

MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps what -- and I leave it perhaps in the hands of the Board, if you can either give me the conversion factor, 2.6, I can run the calculator, or alternatively, if it is somehow more complicated than multiplying it by 2.6, if it is possible to have the two numbers -- so 262,000 for 2011 and 141,000 for 2012 -- in pounds, that would be appreciated.

So I don't know whether we actually need an undertaking for that if you are going to get back to me or...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Taking an undertaking would be maybe the best way of keeping track of it.

MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.  So if we could have an undertaking that you either confirm that 2.6 is the appropriate conversion multiplier from kilogram uranium to pounds, or alternatively provide the numbers in chart 2 converted into pounds.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.7:  to PROVIDE APPROPRIATE CONVERSION MULTIPLIER FROM KILOGRAMS TO POUNDS OF URANIUM, OR PROVIDE NUMBERS IN CHART 2 CONVERTED INTO POUNDS.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, am I right that if you know that you are contractually obligated to purchase -- we will work with 2011 here -- 262,000 kilograms of uranium in 2011 under indexed contracts, that you would also know exactly how much you are paying under your various contracts cumulatively for that?

MR. MAUTI:  Subject to confirmation of the inflation index, which likely is not known for 2011 until 2010 is complete.

MR. DeROSE:  Ah, okay.  And I guess -- let me tell you what I would like to understand.  I want to -- if you could provide me, and if you need to put a proxy in for inflation or perhaps don't add inflation in and put a qualifier in, what I would like to understand is what you expect the cost to be for 2011 and 2012 for your indexed -- for that quantity of uranium pursuant to your indexed long-term contracts.

And then I would like to compare that to what you would have paid had those been market-based contracts.

And what I would propose, unless you have a better suggestion on the way to do it, is you had earlier told me that the range that you would expect for a market rate contract to be the $48 US per pound to $61 per pound.  That is the range.

So what I would propose is if you could simply say -- I guess, we would want three figures.  We would want the figures for 2011, 2012, the cost for the indexed contracts, number one.  Secondly, the cost, if the market-based rates were $48 per pound, and then secondly -- or third, I'm sorry, if they were $61 per pound, because that gives us the range that you have said would be a reasonable proxy for market-based.

And that way we can just get an understanding of how much more for 2011 and 2012 we are expecting to pay as a result of your decision to enter into long-term indexed contracts.

You have nodded like you understand what I am...

[Laughter]

MR. MAUTI:  Just writing down the details.  I believe that that should be something that would be possible to get.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay. 

MR. KEIZER:  I think, though, with one proviso, is that some of the pricing on the index side may be confidential, depending on the number --


MR. DeROSE:  I have no problem if you file it confidentially.  And I don't need it on a contract-by-contract basis.  I am looking for a cumulative --


MS. CHAPLIN:  The total? 

MR. DeROSE:  The total.  If for 2011 you expect that your indexed contracts are going to cost you 30 million, and had it been at $41 a pound, it would have been 10 million, that is the level I need it at, the 10,000-foot level.

I don't need it at contract-by-contract.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.8:  to PROVIDE 2011 AND 2012 FOR INDEXED CONTRACTS, AND COSTS IF MARKET-BASED RATES ARE $48 PER POUND AND $61 PER POUND.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Sorry, members of the panel, I am just making sure that I haven't missed anything here. 

One other question.

Your fuel and inventory process, did I understand you earlier that that, in and of itself, has a naturally -- I think the phrase you used was "naturally smoothing process"?

MR. MAUTI:  Smoothing and lagging, those are two words I used.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So in terms of the -- to address volatility of prices, that the lag associated with your fuel and inventory process would, in and of itself, have a naturally -- would, in part, address the volatility issue, would it not?

MR. MAUTI:  It would delay the impact of the volatility.  If prices were to spike, you wouldn't necessarily see it that year.  You would start to see it impact in a future period.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And just to confirm that with respect to the extent to which fuel in inventory in your working capital calculation is or is not captured in your fuel variance account, just to confirm, that is something that should be punted to the deferral and variance panel?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then two other -- I am going to move away from nuclear fuel pricing, and I just have two small ones that came up.

First of all, there was a discussion on unfilled staff vacancies and headcount and FTE.  If you have an unfilled staff vacancy -- so you have a position on paper, but you currently do not have it staffed -- are you able to tell me whether that counts for -- would that be included in either your FTE calculation or your head count, or neither?

MR. MAUTI:  If the individual is not there, then it is not a head count.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. MAUTI:  If you are calculating the effective amount of effort to execute work and the position is not there, it wouldn't be an FTE either.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So on the FTE calculation, you don't look at the number of positions that you have available.  You only look at the amount of effort being expended by people that are actually in the position?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MAUTI:  A calculation of the FTE, for the purpose of our filing for the test period, would take into account the level of effort we feel would be required to execute work.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So -- no, actually, not okay.

Does that mean that if you feel that there is a position that needs to be filled to expend the work to accomplish the job, even if there is no one in that job today, you would include that as an FTE?

MR. MAUTI:  For planning purposes in terms of what we feel would be required to do the work, if we plan to do that work, that would constitute calculation of that work and effort and hours, and that becomes an FTE, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the final point is this, and it is an issue that was raised by Mr. Stephenson this morning and it was right at the end of his questions.

He asked you -- he put a scenario to you to the effect that if the Board -- if this Board Panel concluded that another cost reduction in the nuclear OM&A was appropriate in this case, he asked what you would do.  And I think your answer was that there would be a reasonable chance that with incremental reductions, that that might result in a decrease of work that you could undertake.

Do you recall that?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, can I -- and I think that this is an assumption I hope I can take, but is it fair that I assume that you would -- if you had to decrease the amount of work that you were going to undertake in 2011 and 2012, you would ensure that the work that you decide to defer would not affect the safety or reliability of any of your nuclear facilities; is that fair?

MR. PASQUET:  So, clearly, the work that we would -- we would not do anything that would impact safety of the plant, no question.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. PASQUET:  The second question is, is if you defer work of perhaps a lower priority today, it may ultimately come down to be a higher priority item tomorrow.

So you have to be very careful and very thoughtful, when you decide to defer work, that you are looking at the long-term impact of deferring that work.

So within the period of that one year, we would be doing our very best to have something would not have an impact in that year, but the long-term impact, it might have a long-term impact.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But in terms of the short to medium term, if faced with reductions, I take it you would identify what work you can either defer or not do.  And if safety or reliability became an issue, I take it that you would either seek funds from your shareholder or come back to the Board, is that -- for an urgent -- on an urgent application basis, one or the other?

MR. PASQUET:  I am not familiar enough with, once receiving a ruling from the Board, if that was going to cause something untoward, what would then be the remedy.  I am not the right person, then, to ask regarding how you would treat that.

MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps I can ask it this way.

There are no circumstances that you can conceive of where, if the Board were to decide that there should be a reduction in your OM&A, that you would allow any of your facilities to be operated in an unsafe fashion?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

Thank you very much, panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Buonaguro, you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

I am going to pick up where Mr. DeRose left off on fuel costs.  Most of my cross is on fuel cost, and I know we have gone through it twice now, so I will pick and choose to fill in the gaps, in my understanding.

You will see I have left up on the screen here Exhibit F2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 6, which is chart number 2.  I just wanted to confirm something, as I was looking at it here.

It says at line 5 of the page:
"The 321,000 kgU of new purchases (i.e., either under long-term or short-term spot market contracts) is priced at market prices forecast for 2010, 2011, and 2012."

Do I take that statement to mean that in those three years the intention is to only enter into market-priced contracts and not to enter into indexed-priced contracts, or am I misreading that line?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe the purpose of the -- we have to set an assumption for the purposes of defining calculation of our fuel costs, including our inventories and whatnot.

So in the going-forward period, we thought the only appropriate one to use was to use sort of a market-related price at that point.  It is not a determination that you wouldn't enter into an indexed contract.  It is just for the purpose of pricing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So for the purposes of the forecast that you have put forward to set the rate for the revenue requirement, you are assuming market-priced contracts, and, therefore, using your forecast of the market, what a market-priced contract will produce in terms of cost.

But, in reality, you may or may not enter into indexed-based contracts; is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  The execution of how to go about getting those purchases has not been determined, just because of using market price for the forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let's say, for example, you do enter into some indexed-based contracts.  That may be a factor in terms of a variation for what is embedded in rates and which would be caught by the variance account?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, again, if you are entering into an indexed contract, say, in 2011, your starting point would be the market price in 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So because of the term, the difference may be minimal?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you very much.

Now, I just wanted to start here at -- again, it Exhibit F2, tab 5, schedule 1, and this is figure 1, which you have talked about already.

I wanted to confirm -- I think it is pretty obvious when you look at the next one, but the attachment at the end of this exhibit - I think it is at page 12 - when we look at the black line, which here is called Ux U308 price, and the blue line, which is Ux long-term price, my understanding is that these are identical as -- they're identical to the table that is at the end of this exhibit, which I will turn to.  Just give me a moment.

MR. MAUTI:  I believe that is correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I can stick with this last table and I don't have to flip back and forth.

It makes it easier for me, that's all.  Is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  The attachment 1 on page 12 of 12, the two price curves you saw on the previous slide are identical.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

And just so I understand properly, looking at the attachment 1 at F2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 12 of 12, attachment 1, the red line is what is going to go into rates and is subject to variance; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the blue line shows -- it says here, "OPG average purchase price".  My understanding is that that tells you at any point in time the blended rate between the indexed contracts and the market contracts?  Is it a combination of the two types of contracts to give you an average price?

MR. MAUTI:  Not necessarily on a contract basis.  It represents, in the year the acquisitions that were made, what is the average price per pound.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So if in that year you made purchases which were based on both indexed contracts and market contracts, this would be the blended?

MR. MAUTI:  It is the averaging of all of those acquisitions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, that would also include spot market purchases, because you mentioned you did a couple of spot market purchases?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct, it's all purchases.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I wanted to know throughout the same time period what the indexed prices look like versus the spot market -- sorry, firstly, the spot market, and then versus the market-priced contracts, I would have to have three lines.  I would have to disaggregate that blue line into three lines, wouldn't I?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I think that would work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I get that done?  It doesn't have to be on top of this, because you already have one, two, three, four lines on this one, but on a separate table showing the difference between the three types of purchases over the same time period.

MR. MAUTI:  So you want average price per pound, by year, for indexed contracts alone, market-based contracts alone, and then spot?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I think based on what you told us about spot, there may only be a couple of points on the line for that particular one, but...

MR. MAUTI:  Okay.  Again, subject to any confidentiality, depending on the number of transactions and what that might reflect, but...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the way this is presented, it doesn't actually talk about -- it isn't weighted by amount, is it.  It is just telling you the prices that were achieved, I think.

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  But depending on the number of transactions in a year and whether that is something that is well-known or not, I would just need to confirm there is no confidential issues with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can bring that up, I guess, when you provide the response.  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J4.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.9:  To produce separate table showing difference between the three types of purchases over the same time period as Exhibit F2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 12 of 12, attachment 1.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And also looking at this, we have the black line.  My understanding is that represents the spot price; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  The thin black line would be representative of the spot price, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if, for example, you had decided -- I don't think this is true -- but if you had decided in January 2010 to make a purchase in the spot market, that would be represented by the black line?

MR. MAUTI:  If a contract is entered into January 2010 for a defined spot purchase, which is defined, I believe, as delivery within a 12-month period -- you know, spot sometimes can be delivered over a relatively longer period of time than what you would think of when you think of spot -- but yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So just so I understand that, you are saying that in January 2010, then, let's say, it looks from the graph that the price may have been about just above $40 per pound.

Does that look about right, just for illustrative purposes?

MR. MAUTI:  It looks about right, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You're saying a purchase at that point in time would have been at that just over $40 price, but could be delivered up to a year away?

MR. MAUTI:  Depending on the delivery schedule that is negotiated, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, looking at the table, and if we look at the -- you have a little shaded part here, which I think is referred to as the U308 spot price range.  This goes into the forecast period beyond 2010.

You see what I am talking about, the shaded part?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  I see it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It goes into the forecast period?   
So you are not -- my understanding from that is that you are not committing to any particular line in that when you're saying that the line, that black line, will fall somewhere in that range?

MR. MAUTI:  Based on current industry estimates from various producers and suppliers, publications that we use that assess the market trends, that is the range that is currently sort of viewed as expected.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  So let's assume for the sake of argument that in January of 2011, it is at the lower bound of the range, and the spot market continues to be fairly low, and in fact, substantially lower, it looks like, than either the red line -- which is what is embedded in rates -- and the blue line -- which is your forecast purchase price, your average purchase price -- so let's assume the spot market stays relatively low compared to those two measures.

Would that be something that the company would consider and say:  Let's go into the spot market at this time?

MR. MAUTI:  Depending on our supply needs and availability of finding suppliers on a spot basis.  And you should bear in mind that most suppliers, our larger suppliers, tend to operate more on a long-term contractual basis.  The fundamentals of the market is you tend to sort of lock up supply for a long period of time, so suppliers are locking for long-term arrangements as much as most utilities that need to access these suppliers would.

But we would consider that at the same time.  We would have to consider the amount of inventory that we have on hand.  We don't necessarily want to be putting money into our working capital unnecessarily, to tie up a large amount of uranium.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am trying to understand, and make sure I understand why or why not this is the case.

It sounds like, well, for example, I think in part of your evidence you say, if we were to take today, for example, my understanding is that you know where your uranium is coming from for the next two years.  You have 100 percent of your supply worked out for the next two years, based on having already entered into contracts.  Is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  I think we have actually 100 percent available and on hand.  We actually have that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So if a spot market opportunity, I will call it, came up right now, to buy substantially cheaper than what you have on hand, uranium, it doesn't sound like it would be very easy for you to take advantage of it.  Is that what I am hearing?

MR. MAUTI:  We always consider whatever opportunities may be there.  We also get unsolicited offers to sell uranium to us.  We would have to assess whether we felt it was appropriate to maybe buy and hold that uranium for a period of time.

Foregoing any additional need at some point in the future, there is always a cost associated to that, such as the holding cost and working capital cost of carrying additional amounts.  It is not something that is impossible to do, but if it is outside of the ranges, it gets evaluated and brought to a more senior level in the company for that decision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that because -- are those concerns partly because since you already have your two years' worth of uranium sort of figured out, if you were to take advantage of an immediate opportunity for a much lower-priced uranium, you are either using that uranium now and displacing uranium that you had already planned to use for the current period, or buying that uranium and then using it two years down the road, at a minimum?  Or something -- some combination of those two factors?

MR. MAUTI:  I am not sure if I followed the question, but in effect, we have a certain supply of uranium.

Looking into the future to, you know, to purchase additional, we would have, obviously, defined cash flow requirements to come up with it, and holding costs, carrying costs and whatnot.

So I think that all goes into the equation of whether it is economical to necessarily do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then just going back to this red line, my understanding is that that red line, which is what forms the revenue requirement for the test period, doesn't anticipate any what I would call spot market opportunities in the two years.  It is based entirely on your existing index price contracts and your market-priced contracts?

MR. MAUTI:  I guess, bear in mind as you buy uranium it goes in as the first part of our inventory cycle, it gets averaged out, and as that happens and gets converted into dioxide and converted into a fuel bundle, it has an impact on the averaging of that process.

So while it is lagged, it is not invisible over the next couple of years

So if you make a uranium purchase today, there is -- at today's lower average price than currently is in your inventory, you will see an impact of it is.  Is it not direct and not immediate, but you do start to see impacts from that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for example, when did you say the last spot market price was?

MR. MAUTI:  There were purchases in 2009.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So presumably, the impact of that on revenue requirement would be starting to be felt now, or in the next year?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, those purchases were factored into the value of our inventory that we used as part of our planning purposes to set these amounts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  I want to turn quickly to VECC IR 20, which is L14-20.  I believe there is a confidential version of that, which I am not turning to.  You can see I have put on the screen the non-confidential version.

And we asked in part (a) of the question about the market-related prices.  We asked:

“Are the market-related prices for uranium concentrate simply the spot market prices at the time of delivery?  If not, please indicate exactly how market-related prices are determined."

And the answer at (a) was:

“A, the market-related price for uranium concentrate is not simply the spot price at the time of delivery.  Market-related price is the price to be paid at the time of delivery based on the average of published market price indicators for a specified period prior to delivery."

And then you go on to describe two particular price indicators, the month-end U308 long-term price indicator listed in the Ux Weekly, and the month-end U308 long-term price indicator listed in the Nuclear Market Review, published by TradeTech LLC.  I guess the first one was published by Ux Consulting Company.  I figure I should give them both their due on the transcript.

Then you say at the bottom:

"A combination of these indicators over different periods may also be utilized."

Going back to the table at the end of the exhibit -- so F2, tab 5, schedule 1, and in particular the black line and the sort of blueish line, which is labelled:
"Ux long-term price, US dollars per pound," do either of those reflect those two indicators that you talk about in the interrogatory response?"


MR. MAUTI:  I guess the U308 long-term price indicator is that purple sort of line there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. MAUTI:  Whether that is any one of the publications, or if it is an averaging of the two, we have displayed it here.  It is -- I think it is likely some averaging of the two different publications.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, these are two publications that purport to show the same type of forecasts within the same parameters at the same time?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  They're two of the most widely sort of accepted industry publications that sort of deal with the marketplace and do analysis and assessments of the marketplace.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I understand that you take the two and you average them.  Is the difference between them material enough that that is a necessity?  Or -- I am just wondering if it is worthwhile breaking them out to see how different they are.

MR. MAUTI:  Likely they would not be different.  I don't have firsthand knowledge exactly what the values are and how close they are to each other.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Sorry, did you say you don't know, or you are confirming they're very similar?  I missed that.

MR. MAUTI:  I believe they are very similar, but, again, I don't have the -- firsthand knowledge I do not have of them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give me an undertaking to check to see if they are materially similar, and, if not, maybe break them out to show the differences over the same period?

MR. KEIZER:  Subject to, I guess, seeing what we said about how we can disclose them in the confidential response.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.10.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.10:  TO PROVIDE COMPARISON OF UX WEEKLY AND NUCLEAR MARKET REVIEW U308 PRICE INDICATORS


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in this response, too, you talk about those being two examples, I think.  Presumably there are market-based contracts which rely on different indicators, as well?

MR. MAUTI:  As you can appreciate, in any contractual relationship we would have with an organization, they may pick one, they may want an averaging of both, they may want averaging over a period of time prior to the negotiation of the contract.

It really is subject to the negotiations between ourselves and the counterparty that we are entering into this contract with.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Going back to VECC Interrogatory No. 20, I read out part (a).  Part (c) said:
"Please provide details as to how the prices are indexed, i.e., by general index of inflation, by index of commodity prices, etc."


And then there is the description at part (c) of index pricing.  I just want to -- I put it there in case you want to read it to refresh your memory.

But my understanding between the two of them is that the actual spot price at the time that a contract is due for delivery doesn't directly factor into the price that is paid; is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Under (c) we're talking indexed pricing, so spot pricing is not relevant.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess the more obvious one under the indexed pricing, it is no relation to the spot price.

How about under the market price?

MR. MAUTI:  If the market price is looking at some derivation of the different market indicators of what has been negotiated, I don't think it would be subject to any CPI escalation.  It is basically set for a delivery based on the terms of the contract in terms of how to calculate that price.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So there is no, necessarily, relationship between the market-based price contracts and the prevailing spot market price at the time of delivery?

MR. MAUTI:  I'm sorry, we're not talking inflation now?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  I am agreeing with you it's obvious, I think, that for the indexed-priced contracts, there is no relationship to spot market, and I am confirming whether or not it is true -- for the market price one, if that is also true.

MR. MAUTI:  Any long-term market price indicator has to take into account the fundamentals of what is happening in the spot.  So I am sure there is some sort of relationship between what is happening in a spot market versus a long-term price.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, at part (d), we asked about -- the question was:
"Please provide details as to how OPG has hedged the price risk which is fully borne by ratepayers."


At part (d) you say:
"The underlying premises of this question is incorrect."


And this is similar to the answer you gave to the Board Staff interrogatory.  I think it is number 65:
The existence of the Nuclear Fuel Variance Account does not mean that the price risk is fully borne by ratepayers.  If any of the costs in the variance account are found to be imprudent by the OEB, then OPG will not be able to recover these costs from ratepayers.  It should also be noted that any cost decreases would be passed on to ratepayers."


I wanted to ask, when you are talking about imprudence, what are we talking about specifically, because I am trying to figure out at what point there is a decision that OPG makes that comes before the Board that will be determined to be either prudent or imprudent?  Like, how would that -- when are we doing that analysis?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MAUTI:  I am not sure if it is my position to determine what prudency would or wouldn't be.  My job is to articulate the strategy we use that we felt was the best for OPG to follow and we felt was fair and proper for the ratepayer, trying to balance the different factors we have.

If there is an argument about imprudence, it would have to sort of be brought forward, but I am not sure how I would even answer the question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I mean, I raise it because the answer essentially said the company is at risk and the company is at risk, because if what it is doing is found to be imprudent down the line, then to the extent there is variance above the forecast, that is going to be disallowed.  That is what I am reading in the question.

So I am just trying to figure out, down the road, what is it the Board is going to be evaluating for prudence?

Your answer seemed to suggest to me that when you think about prudence, you are thinking about the overall strategy as opposed to any particular contract.  Is that what you are putting forward for approval?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, I think what I am suggesting is the actions that we have taken in executing our strategy, if something were found to be imprudent, I wouldn't want to speculate on how they would be imprudent.

I am not sure how to actually answer that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give me an example of --


MR. MAUTI:  Of something imprudent?

MR. KEIZER:  Doesn't this go to argument, though, in a way, based on the facts in the record?  I mean, Mr. Buonaguro or other parties may have a different view of the strategy as opposed to what OPG put in the evidence and has testified to.

It is going to come down to argument as to what people believe is prudent or not, when the variance accounts would be dispersed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I mean, I am trying to -- obviously you can tell I am struggling with trying to figure out what it is that the Board is going to be approving and to what extent that predetermines the question two years from now when the variance account is going to be cleared.

If what is being advanced is a particular strategy for procurement of nuclear fuel costs that is to be approved or not approved in this case, and let's say it is approved, presumably as long as they follow that strategy, the prudence review will be moot at the end.

But if it is actual contract-by-contract basis, that is a very different thing.  Then the Board would be looking at specific contracts.  So I am trying to understand what they're advancing in terms of having the Board bless the way in which they procure their fuels.

MR. KEIZER:  I think effectively they have looked at a strategy, and I think the issue is there's lots of precedent jurisprudence on what prudency means before the Board, in terms of, you know, 20-20 hindsight or not 20-20 hindsight what the parties -- management make the decision at the time the decision was made.

But at the same time, I think they have put forward the strategy and the basis upon which they procure, and so, I mean, I think that is the essence of their evidence.  I don't at this stage -- and the way it is laid out, they have been very clear about how they deal with indexed contracts and also the market contracts.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think what Mr. Buonaguro is asking is some clarity around what is the benchmark against which that subsequent analysis will be done.  Is it against the strategy overall or the specific costs, or is OPG's view the benchmark will be whatever the benchmark is when it comes time to disposing of the balance in the account?

MR. KEIZER:  Clearly the costs are a big factor, because that is the element that formed part of the deficiency relating to the cost.

But strategy plays an important role with respect to it, as well, because obviously that has an impact on it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Am I correct the company is seeking disposition of an existing balance in that account?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  And I think -- I guess where it goes is that -- and maybe this -- again, I don't want to sound like Mr. Deferral here, but it may be that this is better dealt with in the context of the deferral and variance account, the panel where that aspect is being dealt with and considered, you know, given what we have heard already today from the witness with respect to the fuel and the fuel strategy.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is that satisfactory to you, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am happy to have a chat with the deferral account and variance account panel.

Maybe I can follow up by asking this.  When you were talking to Mr. DeRose about this topic in terms of -- I will call it procurement strategy, because I think it is actually -- looking on the same exhibit -- sorry, Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 20, page 2, the last paragraph, it starts:

"OPG's uranium concentrate procurement strategy, as stated in Exhibit F2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 5..."

So we can go back to that page, but presumably page 5, there is a little summary of the procurement strategy.

But when you were talking to Mr. DeRose about what it is the company does, it sounded like there was something more grandiose than one page in the document.  There seemed to be an actual strategy.

I will tell you why I am thinking this.  I have some experience in risk management proceedings in the gas sector, where there was an actual documented strategy which tried to reduce what the company was doing -- in this case, I think it was Union Gas -- to a very mechanical set of strategies and decision-making trees when it comes to procuring, in that case, system gas for consumers, which was then approved as a whole.

And I hope I'm properly paraphrasing what happened.  But that became the strategy that was approved, and I am wondering if that is what the company is doing here.  They have and overall strategy they want the Board to look at and approve, or whether it is more a contract-by-contract basis decision, ex post facto.

If so, is there a document that should be produced that shows from start to finish what the company does in terms of making these decisions?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I don't want to speak necessarily for the witness, but it is my understanding that the application and the evidence relates to the overall strategy, not on a contract-by-contract basis. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And is there something more than the one page in the exhibit, to talk about the procurement strategy as a whole?  Is there a manual?  Is there -- I don't mean to be flippant about it, but I have seen that before and I am wondering if you have that in this case.

MR. KEIZER:  I will let the witness answer that one.

[Laughter.]

MR. MAUTI:  I guess the strategy that I have been articulating –- and perhaps not well –- is, I guess, a combination of both a supply and a pricing sort of arrangement.

You know, we talk about security of supply, but –- and we tend to spend most of the time in the costing aspect of this, but the ability to have a reliable, high-quality supply of fuel into our reactors is absolutely critical and crucial, that we can't sort of have reactors idle because of some sort of downstream problem with production of either of the concentrated fuel bundles.

So having the strategy to looks at an appropriate amount to have on reserve and supply is critical.  And the balance of the types of pricing arrangements that we do have are ranges that have been determined over -- sliding over a period of 10-years in terms of the amount of contracts that we feel should be within a band of indexed contracts, versus those that should be allowed to sort of be at more of a market price.

We set those ranges and then, given the experience and the expertise of the people in the field procurement area that are dealing with a fairly limited number of suppliers, a relatively thin marketplace we're talking about, looking at different opportunities, trying to understand what is happening in the marketplace, we allow them to work within those ranges and to make decisions within those ranges. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when you talk about things like that -- thank you very much -- but when you talk about things like bands and ranges which are then put into the hands of the people who are actually doing the procurement, that sounds like there is a document floating around that gives them direction, which to some degree, provides some mechanics around which they operate.

I am wondering if there is a document like that, that sets out these ranges and the justification for them and things like that.

There may not be.  I am just asking if there is.

MR. MAUTI:  I have seen presentations related to that and dealing what those ranges are, so they do exist.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I get an undertaking to produce those, whatever there is? 

MR. KEIZER:  Can we look -- I guess take an undertaking to enquire as to whether they exist, and then determine the nature of them?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I think the witness has -- Mr. Mauti has said that he has seen that in presentations.  So I think --


MR. MAUTI:  I have seen something.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is the undertaking request for any documentation --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- related to the strategy, particularly in respect to ranges of authority and that sort of thing? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Anything that formalizes what they're doing in terms of procurement strategy.

MR. MAUTI:  I would also suggest this one would definitely be in confidence, given that we don't want to preclude our communication of the strategy to the marketplace that we are trying to negotiate in.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am content with that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  Why don't we go ahead and give that a --


MR. MILLAR:  J4.11. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.11:  to PROVIDE MATERIALS ON PROCUREMENT STRATEGY, IN CONFIDENCE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  In exchange for that undertaking, I will move on to a very short topic.  Thank you very much. 

I am going to pull up another interrogatory of ours.  This is VECC Interrogatory No. 28.  It is Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 28.  Here, we were asking about heavy water services, and you will see, again, I pulled up the non-confidential version of it. I am being very careful.

First of all, looking at the table that was put in, basically, the query was about the fact that it seemed that there was a category that existed in the tables called "heavy water sales and processing" but when you talk about the details of those, that was actually disaggregated into two different things.

If you look at the table, it turns out that it was.  There were two different things covered in that.  One was "surplus heavy water sales" which the proposal from the company is to exclude that from revenue requirement.

And then "other heavy water services" which still exists as a revenue offset.

This table here, the confidential version actually gives the numbers, but this one disaggregates the two, so you can tell how much of the heavy water sales and processing figures historically related to both of those things individually, and also to the forecast period.

Does that fairly summarize what the table represents? 

MR. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I was suddenly switched to another witness and I wasn't expecting that.  Thank you very much. 

Now, forgive me for stating the obvious, but because there is no surplus heavy water sales forecast for 2011 and 2012, at least to the extent that they have been included in revenue requirement, there would be no reason to have blacked out the 2011 plan and 2012 plan for other heavy water services; am I correct?  

I mean that's -- I think it is clear from the table that for other heavy water services, we're talking about 17.3 million and 15.6 million for the test periods?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  We blacked those out, but it is pretty obvious.

[Laughter.]

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  And now what I am interested in -- and I think we probably should have asked it in part of the interrogatory, but because I wasn't sure what was going on, you can tell from the question I was trying to figure out what was going on in terms of -- I mean, my understanding is that when we talk about other heavy water services, the only reason to black out any of the numbers is because you are worried about the commercial sensitivity of the surplus heavy water sales; is that correct? 

MR. ELLIOTT:  Well, there is a commercial element to the heavy water services, as well.  And so providing revenue and costs would give a margin that we wouldn't disclose, except in confidence. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  All right.  Now, just to confirm, my understanding, if I compare this to the tables in the evidence and the way it is presented elsewhere, these are gross figures, and if I want to find out the actual net revenue offset, I have to deduct costs associated with these figures?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  What I am interested in, in particular, and perhaps this is going to be an undertaking, if I can get the other heavy water services number, 2007 to 2012, along with the corresponding costs, and in particular, I am also interested not only in the actuals for 2007, 2008 and 2009, but also the budget numbers.  I will tell you why.

I want to see what kind of fluctuation there is in that line item, between what you budget every year versus what the actual amount is.  Basically, to test the reasonableness of the forecasting of that, because my understanding is that this is essentially a forecast which involves you talking -- if you look, the rest of the response talks about you basically talk to the few clients you have for heavy water sales, and ask them for their needs on a go-forward basis, and that builds the forecast.

MR. ELLIOTT:  We do a number of things.  We do talk to the customers about their needs.  We have some firm contracts.  And we also look at the competitors out there, and come up with a forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So basically, if you can do that reworking of the table for the other heavy water services, which gets me, like -- it shows not only actuals, but the budgets for the historical year, so I can show the variation.  But it also does it on a net basis, so I can see what the actual revenue offsets would be.

MR. ELLIOTT:  You want the revenue forecast?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. ELLIOTT:  I am trying to think of what -- going into that year or...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, for example, going in –- presumably, when you filed for 2008 and 2009 rates -- and I've gone through the evidence and I looked at the original application for the 2007 case, I guess it was -- you had figures for other heavy water services.  It was, again, on an aggregate basis, along with surplus heavy water sales, but you had a forecast amount for the test period and I want to test that against what the --


MR. ELLIOTT:  So the forecast --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Against these actuals which are reported here.

MR. ELLIOTT:  The forecast we made in the last application?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. ELLIOTT:  For other heavy water services?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. ELLIOTT:  Revenue?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. ELLIOTT:  And net?  And how do they compare with the actuals that we see here? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right. 

MR. ELLIOTT:  Okay. 

MR. MILLAR:  J4.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.12:  to PROVIDE FORECAST FROM LAST APPLICATION FOR OTHER HEAVY WATER SERVICES, REVENUE AND NET, AND COMPARISON TO ACTUAL AMOUNTS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And now you mentioned -- perhaps you can also tell me, for the test years, you mentioned some of them are firm commitments and some of it, I guess, is things you forecast that will probably happen in the test years, but may not be firm commitments; is that fair?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  Overall in our whole commercial service business, it is -- about 20 percent are firm contracts, we know we will have them, and 80 percent are things that will happen during the year.  So we have to forecast -- you know, we forecast those.  We can't say for sure the whole 100 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So for this 2011-2012 figures of 17.3 and 15.6 on a gross basis, you're saying approximately 20 percent of that would relate to --


MR. ELLIOTT:  That is for the whole commercial service business, which includes isotopes, cobalt, those types of things.  So I don't have the exact number of percentage for the heavy water services part, which are firm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you do that as part of the undertaking?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

Mr. Rubin, I believe you are next in the order.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin:

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Panel, I hope you can see me.  I would like to start with a couple of scattered small questions before I get into the meat.

One outlier.  In the stakeholder information session, I noticed something -- please don't turn to it, but it just said:
"In this filing OPG has not adjusted the depreciation schedule for Pickering A to reflect the new end of life."

I was wondering, at first, if that is a typo for Pickering B, or if you have recently changed Pickering A's end of life and can you steer me to it?

MR. MAUTI:  For Pickering A for depreciation, we have not changed its end of life.

MR. RUBIN:  Has its end of life changed?

MR. MAUTI:  No, it has not.

MR. PASQUET:  So maybe let me just clarify.

With the continued operations project, we are planning that when the last Pickering B unit comes out of service, then Pickering A will come out of service, as well.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  That is different from what you have been assuming for accounting purposes, as it were?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And which direction is it different in?

MR. PASQUET:  It is coming in -- I believe one unit was 2021, approximately, and it is now down to 2020.

MR. RUBIN:  So the end of life of Pickering A is now estimated to be -- forecast to be sooner than it was, but you are not depreciating it more quickly?  That's what that sentence means?

MR. PASQUET:  Can you just rephrase that again for me?  Sorry.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  Again, I am just reading this from page 17 of the meeting notes from your website, and it says:
"In this filing, OPG has not adjusted the depreciation schedule for Pickering A to reflect a new end of life."

And I am assuming that the new end of life is the one you are referring to --


MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. RUBIN:  -- of perhaps one year or sooner for one unit and two years sooner for the other unit.

And -- well, perhaps that is all for this panel.  I assume there is another panel for depreciation, so I guess I have my answer for now.  Thank you.

I have a few questions about nuclear fuel costs that I hope don't duplicate what I was listening to reasonably attentively earlier in the day.

Can you turn to the graph that we have already seen a few times in your exhibit on nuclear fuel costs, attachment 1?  That is Exhibit F2-5-1, and let me turn it up myself.  And it is the one at the very end of the document.

And I wonder if you can -- I still have some puzzles after some discussion about this.  The shaded wedge with the vertical stripes towards the right-hand side that starts in January 2010 is labelled "U308 Spot Price Range (US $/lb)".  Is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And it starts in January of this year and extends through 2012.  So I am puzzled about how a spot market goes in the future.  Is that a forecast of future spot market prices, or is it the current price of future commodity contracts for uranium?

MR. MAUTI:  It is the current forecast of where we feel the range of that spot market may go into the future.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  And the blue line with the triangles on it is the -- your -- I guess it is your average annual purchase prices in the same units; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  It is the average price per pound of all purchases of uranium that we made in that year.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  And the number that appears half way between January '10 and January '11, is that a nearly actual number or is that a nine-three estimate plus forecast?

MR. MAUTI:  The -- are you talking about -- in fact, the last two triangles of that line?

MR. RUBIN:  The third from the end, the one that seems to represent the year 2010 that we're in.

MR. MAUTI:  That would be based on the existing contracts as we know them, in terms of when we would be expecting delivery, factoring in our estimate of what that price forecast would be for ones that are market related.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  Okay.  So in terms -- getting back to what one or two other people have discussed with you, it looks like in 2010 you have been paying a higher price on average than you could have bought in the spot market; is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Purely on the spot market, which is the black line there, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, and also the spot price range is that shaded area, which you are also above?

MR. MAUTI:  It looks like it is right at the top end of that range, but...

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.

MR. MAUTI:  I would like to point out it is only marginally above the term price, which is that purple sort of shaded line that is fairly close to the 2010 estimate.  That would be the line that is more reflective of our market-related contracts.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, sorry, term price is really long-term price.  That is the cost of long-term contracts, is it not?

MR. MAUTI:  It is the market-related price that most market contracts going into the future would use.  They do not tend to use a short-term spot price.  The evidence indicates those long-term fundamentals of the marketplace, that most contracts would use that long-term price.

MR. RUBIN:  I'm sorry that each answer yields another question, but that triangle representing this year, 2010, the blue triangle, is that uranium that you have received this year?  I mean, if you commit to a contract this year that runs through 2012, does it all show up in that triangle, or does it affect three triangles in a row because it is going to affect three calendar years in a row?

MR. MAUTI:  The full contract doesn't show up in that year.  It is the actual deliveries in that year we are expecting, many of those coming from contracts that were signed earlier.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.  By the way, I don't know if this helps, but I think I have the answer to the puzzle about 2.6.  I'm sorry Mr. DeRose has left, but I think it is because of something you have actually labelled, which is that the pounds number is U308 and the kilogram numbers is U, is the pure uranium fraction of yellow cake, which is chemically U308, and the ratio -- I just crunched the numbers on the ratio and it comes out almost exactly to 2.6 when you put in that correction factor, uranium to uranium as opposed to apples to apples.

So, anyway, if Mr. DeRose reads this, he will know.  He will get his answer early.

Just one kind of picky point.  I don't want to spend too long on this, but can you confirm that of the various lines on this chart, they all deal with -- they're all measured by the scale on the left side of the chart, except one, which is the kind of magenta-red-purple one, brown one, whatever, which represents OPG's average fuel cost in Canadian dollars per megawatt-hour.  And it reads off the scale to the right side of the chart; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And can you confirm to me also that the relationship between those two scales and therefore the relationship between that magenta line and all of the other lines is purely arbitrary, a happenstance of the scales you happened to choose, and should have -- and has no significance and should be given no weight?

In other words, the question of whether your Canadian dollars per megawatt-hour is higher or lower than your purchase price in that year, is completely meaningless?  Would you agree with that? 

MR. MAUTI:  Since the scales are different, the fact we're tracking them and using one chart to display them, that is correct, that the relationships between them are not --


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  That was much easier than I feared it might be.  In your –- again, without turning to it -- in your Exhibit F2, 0501, on page 9 and following, and in attachment 2 to that same document on page 12, and in your response to IR L1-65 -- maybe I don't even have to mention all of those numbers.

Anyway, you have discussed what you call the disconnect between falling uranium prices and OPG's rising uranium costs, and you have discussed that with a number of my friends here earlier in the day.

Has OPG done any root-cause analysis or considered introducing any incentive structures or any other systemic solutions to attempt to avoid similar disconnects in the future?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe in the IR response, the disconnect is not solely driven from uranium prices.  There were the four different factors that the IR refers to, in terms of the impact ultimate fuel costs. 

Sorry, your question was --


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Let me come back to you.

You're saying there are other factors like the time lag and blending and that sort of thing.  Yes, I do understand that and I appreciate that.

But to the extent that we would all like you to buy low, and you would presumably like to buy low, and to the extent that we can look at this disconnect and see that perhaps one of the four factors is -- can certainly be interpreted as a failure to buy as low as you might have, my question stands.

Has there been a root-cause analysis of why that happens?  Or has there been an attempt to establish systemic solutions or structures or incentives to try to reward individuals or organizations for doing as well as they can, and doing well?

Has there been benchmarking, for example? 

MR. MAUTI:  Well, the benchmarking that we do do with our nuclear fuel costs indicates that internationally we are at the very top, in terms of our lowest fuel cost.

MR. RUBIN:  Sorry.  Isn't that per megawatt-hour, because you are using CANDU reactors, and you are using heavy water moderator and you're on-line fuelling and you're doing all of these other things?  That is not a testament to your purchasing acumen, is it?

MR. MAUTI:  You asked what kind of benchmarking that we had done.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  No.  I am asking you if you have done any benchmark of your uranium traders compared to other uranium traders, or compared to the spot market, or compared to anything else. 

I am sure you are aware that, for example, the mutual fund industry, a huge industry, has recently been found wanting because people are comparing it to index funds, to, you know, non-managed funds.

I mean, I have a similar question for you.  Are you doing any better than the index?

MR. MAUTI:  I know there are a variety of approaches that different organizations use to acquire their fuel, whether it is using a mix of different pricing contracts or not.  I am not aware of any specific benchmarking that we have done that looks at our success as to how we have done compared to others.

MR. RUBIN:  You do agree that you are trying to buy low, and that it is in the interests of your customers that you do so?

MR. MAUTI:  That is always our intent, balancing the security of supply and quality issues, as we always have.  But we are trying to get the best, lowest overall price.

MR. RUBIN:  And I assume we have no trouble agreeing that this is a market whose past and present are well known and whose future is not well known?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, we can agree, based on the price curves, that it's been a highly volatile market over the last three and four years.

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.  And we agree that when you fail to buy as low as you could, that translates directly into costs for ratepayers?

MR. MAUTI:  With the benefit of hindsight, yes, we -- that would be the case.

MR. RUBIN:  Let me just put it to you that, having been at this very hearing for a couple of days, I am struck by OPG's different attitude toward this and the hydroelectric incentive mechanism, which I think has almost all, maybe all of the factors we just agreed on that the uranium purchasing situation has.

And I guess I am wondering, have you considered being rewarded for doing well?  I mean, is it possible that you would change the way you do things if there were money directly at stake for OPG and/or for the individuals involved?

MR. MAUTI:  I can't speak to the incentive mechanisms that are provided to the fuels procurement group.  I am not sure how to answer the question.

MR. RUBIN:  Are you aware if any individuals within OPG actually end up with a bigger Christmas bonus or more money at the end of the year if they do a stellar job at beating the market in uranium?

MR. MAUTI:  I am not familiar with the performance contracts, no.  I do not know. 

MR. RUBIN:  Is that worth an undertaking?  Can I get one?  That would be:  Are there any incentive structures to individuals within OPG to achieve excellent performance at procuring uranium at low prices?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine. 

MR. MILLAR:  J4.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.13:  to CONFIRM WHETHER THERE are INCENTIVE STRUCTURES TO INDIVIDUALS WITHIN OPG TO ACHIEVE EXCELLENT PERFORMANCE AT PROCURING URANIUM AT LOW PRICES.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  I've got a quick question about tritium sales.  And it is -- if this turns out, if the answer turns out to be confidential, I am sure you will tell me. 

You deal with it in the non-energy revenues, nuclear document, Your Exhibit G2, 0101.  It is on page 6 of 11.  It says:

“Total revenue from tritium sales over the period 2007 to 2012 is shown in Exhibit G2, T1, S1, table 1."

And when I turn to table 1, I see only on line 2:  "Isotope sales (cobalt 60 plus tritium)."

And I am curious -- it is not a big-ticket item and I don't think we need to spend long on this -- but I am wondering if any of the panellists have a sense of the proportions between cobalt 60 sales and tritium sales, or whether that is commercially confidential, or...

MR. ELLIOTT:  I don't know that it is commercially confidential to have the revenue broken out, but I don't have it.  I don't have the percentage between cobalt and tritium.

I can see that we've lumped them together, and I don't have the combination -- them individually. 

MR. RUBIN:  I don't know if it is worth having an undertaking or not, to make one of you an honest man over page 6 of 11, but it is a small item.

Why don't I just go on?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Good choice, Mr. Rubin. 

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.   I have a -- what I think one of my friends referred to as a 10,000-foot question, a high-level question. 

In my experience, sometimes the most important question to ask is:  Or else what? 

And I guess I am still puzzled about the answer to  Or else what.

In your various comparison documents, comparison of nuclear fuel costs, F2-5-2, and comparison of base OM&A nuclear, F2-2-2, would you agree with me that we are generally analyzing improvements in the columns that are labelled "Budget" and "Plan" in the years that are budget and plan, and we are dealing with disappointments in the years marked "Actual"?

MR. MAUTI:  It's a rather broad statement.  I am not sure what you should be referring to, specifically.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, okay.  Let me put this to you.  We've heard of a number of disappointments in the actual results, for example, compared to the predictions and promises that were made in the previous hearing on this topic, 2007-0905.

And the forecast for the future now, I would say the promises, are equally wonderful, perhaps more wonderful, perhaps not quite as wonderful.  But they're for excellent performance, low cost, high performance.  Things are going to get better, according to your plans.

Anyway, I am going to assume that you have seen this in the documents, as I have, but my high-level question is:  Can anybody give me some clarity on what happens if those predictions are accepted by your regulator, but not accepted by reality?

Somebody's going to be out some money.

MR. KEIZER:  Are you asking -- sorry, the predictors, you're talking about the predictor or forecast for OM&A costs in the test period?

MR. RUBIN:  Well, that is part of the question.

MR. KEIZER:  Is that what you're asking?

MR. RUBIN:  That is the part that this panel could answer, and I would love it if they would answer it.  If revenues fall short, that would mean that there is less money coming in to pay for your OM&A budget.  If forced outages exceed forecast, that means your OM&A staff is stretched dealing with forced outages rather than doing -- checking off their list of things that they were planning to do.  How would you respond?

MR. PASQUET:  So we have put together a business plan and a rate application that is our best judgment.  It includes, as we have talked about this morning, some challenging targets to improve performance of these units.

And so that is what we have included in the rate application.  That is what we have included in our business plan.  If there is, in fact, a shortfall of revenue - in other words, if we don't perform as stated - it is OPG that is -- that will have to manage the shortfall.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, I heard something from one of your lawyers a while ago that suggest suggested to me it might not be, that it might be the shareholder who kicked in the difference so that you could, in one instance, spend exactly what you were planning to spend.

This was -- I believe we were discussing at that point the 10 percent deduction from base OM&A that this Board applied to you in late 2008.

Now, you have told us you didn't do that.  You in fact came below -- you know, you spent less than 90 percent of your planned spending in 2009.

But it seems to me that when a decision is to be made -- and more than recommendations -- decisions are to be made by a regulator, it is useful to know what it means.

And what it means is never what it means if the future unfolds exactly the way the targets and the forecasts say they might, because that never happens.  That is the one thing we know isn't going to happen.

So my question is:  If there is a significant variance, who holds the bag?  Do we know that?  Is it the wrong panel?  Is there a right panel?  You know, I don't think this is argument.  I think this is a fundamental question about how we regulate a public utility company whose shareholder is the government.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I mean, I guess I am struggling with the question, because it seems a very theoretical question.  I think to some extent it is argument.

I think it is covered probably ad nauseam in the regulatory compact and other issues that we have often -- that underpins our regulatory regime.

I guess he is asking the witness to speculate as to what would happen not necessarily in around any specific expenditure or other aspect, and it just seems that I think the witness has answered the question.  We put forward the best business case we could, in our judgment, which we believed to be the one we were going to execute on.

And I think the witness was very clear that if for some reason there is a shortfall, that OPG will have to manage that.  I don't know what other way you can answer that question.

MR. RUBIN:  We have heard that managing it will not compromise safety.  I appreciate that statement.  And that is all I know, that OPG will manage it.

MR. KEIZER:  We can't predict -- you are asking people to be a fortune teller here, and they're not.

MR. RUBIN:  With respect, I think I am asking for error bands.  I am asking for uncertainty analysis.

I am asking for a road map that says, If the world comes out this way, if the regulator permits us to do this, you know, if everything goes according to plan, we are going to do that.  We've got that.  But if it comes out 10 percent happier or 10 percent sadder, here is how we will respond.

And that is what I haven't seen, and I don't know what it means even for base OM&A.

MR. KEIZER:  I think that if you are asking -- it is the same level of prediction.  I mean, ultimately you are asking --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I think, with respect, Mr. Keizer, if I could interrupt for one moment, my understanding is what Mr. Rubin is asking is:  In the planning process, what consideration has OPG given to the fact that actuals may turn out differently than forecast, and how has that affected their planning; and do they have a plan for how they would adjust their expenditures or other activities.


Is that the kind of thing you are getting after?  That seems to be a fair question for -- that seems to be a fair question.

MR. RUBIN:  I was nodding my head.  The answer is "yes".  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand the question now.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. PASQUET:  So two sides of the equation.  One is generation side, and when you talk to the production panel, there is an allotment for unforeseen activities, and so that is quite appropriate for the production panel.

On the base OM&A side, as I have indicated, we have put forward our best judgment of the work that we need to do, and we've looked at the opportunities to save.

We have also talked about, this morning, that certain initiatives, if they don't come to volition (sic), then we will look for other initiatives to make our organization more efficient and to execute the same amount of work.

If faced with a shortfall, we would have to do some reprioritization of the work in front of us, and to speculate on what that would look like, what that might be, I can't do that at this point, because I don't know the situation we may have in front of us nor the magnitude of what we might be faced.

But this business plan and this rate submission is our best judgment of what we believe we can achieve, both from a production perspective and also from a cost perspective.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I will take that as the best I am going to get.  Staying at a high level, can you help me tease out the factors that tend to drive base OM&A spending up and those that tend to drive it down?

Am I right that there are a number of inflationary pressures of which staff compensation levels may be the biggest, that tend to push OM&A, base OM&A and all OM&A levels up, generally?

MR. PASQUET:  So as we have indicated in the evidence some -- about 78 percent or thereabouts of our OM&A expenditures are associated with labour.

There is significant -- as we have indicated in the one chart, there is a substantial pressure on base OM&A spending due to escalation, and we have indicated that in the evidence, and particularly in the chart, too, that we talked with Board Staff.

So escalation is a significant factor.

MR. RUBIN:  Among others?

MR. PASQUET:  Among others; correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And would you also agree that the need to improve the performance of Pickering, and especially Pickering A, also tends to increase OM&A spending?

MR. PASQUET:  So an element of the need to improve is to improve the material condition of the plant.  And as we install new equipment, new hardware in the plant, you know, there is a cost associated with that, and that is reflected within the Pickering A budgets for the test years.

MR. RUBIN:  And in the opposite direction, I believe you told Mr. DeRose earlier that this Board's decision from late 2008 was a factor that decreased your OM&A spending at least in 2009.  Did I hear that right?

MR. PASQUET:  So what we indicated is that in 2009, our spending was, in fact, less than what we had allocated, taking into account what the Rate Order had been.

MR. RUBIN:  And is that also true in 2010 for the same reason?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe in 2010, as part of the new business planning process, the top-down process that we have talked about over the last few days, the targets have -- for spending, have been set at a challenging level.  So it is as a result, in part, of the disallowance on the Pickering A side, as well as the need to better benchmarking and driving those improvements through the business, resulted in those savings we feel in the business plan period, over the test period.

MR. RUBIN:  And you have also -- you have already mentioned the other big term, your top-level budgeting from the whole benchmarking target-setting gap closing.

Are those the big ones?  Have I left out any big terms pushing your spending up or down?

MR. PASQUET:  So I think you have captured it.  I think escalation is a significant component.  That would apply to labour, and also it has the same effect on materials, obviously.

And the work we have in front of us would be the two factors which would tend to increase the levels of spending and increase the revenue needs.

We are not seeing a significant change in regulatory requirements, but there have been a number of issues that have come along the line in 2010 and 2011 that has resulted in upward pressure.

But I think that it is fair to say the majority is associated with either work-related or, in fact, escalation.

MR. RUBIN:  Before I turn to the cost of continuing operation at Pickering B, you have discussed your net present value calculation for the benefits of that project.

Have you ever calculated or presented a similar calculation for the investments that are going into the continued operation of Pickering A and your attempts to improve its performance for its remaining years?

MR. PASQUET:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  You are making investments, as we have already established. in Pickering A, to close gaps, to improve its performance, to bring up some variables and bring down others.

Have you ever done an NPV calculation or any other similar calculation of the sort that you did with the Pickering B continued operation?

MR. PASQUET:  Continued operation?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  I am not aware of an NPV.  Certainly, the impact of the expenditures also is obviously reflected in the total unit energy costs, but an NPV, per se, I am not aware of one being done.

MR. RUBIN:  Turning now to the Pickering B continuing operation project, am I right in saying that a lot of the work for this project is urgent, in the sense that if it were delayed, the whole project could fall apart, it wouldn't work?

MR. PASQUET:  I wouldn't use the words "fall apart." There is a sequence of activities that need to be performed, and that sequence of activity has been laid out.

Some of that is work in the plant.  Some of that is on the fuel channel life management project.

Given that in 2014, that without any mitigation, the first Pickering B units would have to come out of service, there certainly is some urgency to progress it.  But there is a schedule of activities that have been laid out.

MR. RUBIN:  And it is that urgency that necessitates your spending or risking a lot of money upfront, even though you don't have full confidence or even high confidence that you will ultimately get regulatory and safety approval for extending the life; is that fair?

MR. PASQUET:  Sorry?

MR. RUBIN:  The reason we are going to get to perhaps 2012, having spent a bunch of money to extend the life of Pickering B, but will only find out then, perhaps, whether we are going to be able to extend the life of Pickering B, the reason we are taking that risk is because failing to take that risk would close the door?

MR. PASQUET:  So failing to do the work would have the potential to close the door.

I think we need to give a little bit of context.

So when -- continued ops was really borne out of the refurbishment project.  So when the refurbishment studies actually got underway, it became apparent that if we were to undertake refurbishment of the Pickering B units, we wanted to minimize essentially what they referred to as idle time between unit outages.

And so in order to maximize generation, to minimize down time, there was then some work that was undertaken as part of the refurbishment project to look at seeing if it was feasible to operate the Pickering B units longer than currently as stated.

And so the initial work was done in the refurbishment project, and so when the decision then subsequently was made not to refurbish Pickering B, then there was an opportunity to use some of the effort and some of the research that had been done to support that to then go forward and to propose the continued operations project.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I hope that is helpful to somebody.  I am not sure it is helpful to me, but I mean the extra value you have added.

I guess I am trying to get back to a "yes" or "no".  And you have agreed with me that the project is urgent and I think you have agreed with me that it is that urgency, that time-sensitivity on a number of the parts of the project that necessitate your spending money upfront without certainty that there will be a reward from it; is that fair?

MR. PASQUET:  There is time-urgency to it, to complete this work, that's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  Now, my question is:  In conducting your NPV analysis of the net benefits of the project, how did you account for the significant probability that those upfront costs will essentially be lost?  Did they factor into your math?

MR. PASQUET:  So the probability of success of the project was based on our medium –- medium-level confidence that we would be able to achieve it, achieve the 240,000 full-power hours on the pressure tubes.

So the NPV, clearly, was based on the fact that we had achieved the full benefit of the four years.  Notwithstanding that, there were sensitivity studies done associated with not achieving the full four years, but achieving, in fact, less than four years.

MR. RUBIN:  Sorry, when I do a NPV analysis of betting $100 on a pair of queens over a pair of deuces, I factor in the possibility that somebody else has a better hand and that I am going to lose the money.  That is why an NPV analysis doesn't always come out positive.

I am asking you did you factor in the net present value of the downside, as well as the net present value of what if it all goes according to plan?

MR. PASQUET:  I am not familiar with a calculation where you do it in that manner.

We have stated upfront what the risks associated with achieving this is.  We in our judgment believe that there is a good possibility or good probability that, in fact, we will actually achieve the 240,000 full-power hours, or we wouldn't embark on this.

But a specific calculation for up or down, I am not aware of a calculation that you would do an NPV in that manner.

MR. RUBIN:  Madam Chair, I see it is approaching 5:00 if it isn't 5:00, and I think I have something in the order of 20 or 30 minutes left.

So given your stated preference to get out of Dodge...

MS. CHAPLIN:  We're not getting out of Dodge.

We're just getting out of this room.

MR. RUBIN:  Too bad.  More is the pity.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think that is fine.  Mr. Shepherd also has cross-examination, so this panel will be coming back tomorrow.  My understanding is that we will complete this panel tomorrow, and then we will go to panel 5 and complete as much of them as possible.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, ma'am.  Project panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Then panel 4 is the panel that's appearing on Monday.

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just before we rise, Ms. Hare, I believe, would like to make an addition to undertaking J4.6.  I will ask her to explain that.

MS. HARE:  That's the undertaking that you gave to Mr. DeRose in which he asked for the years 2011 and 2012, to do an analysis of the indexed prices for the uranium paid versus if you had bought on the spot market.

I would like to ask you to add to that chart, for the years 2008, 2009 and '10, a comparison of what you actually paid under your indexed contracts, and what it would be had you been able to buy on the market.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So we are adjourned.  We start at 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:01 p.m.
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